

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2018

Colorado Middle School Principals' Transformational Leadership Characteristics and Colorado's Standardized Test Scores

Wayne Wolf *Walden University*

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations Part of the Educational Administration and Supervision Commons, Public Administration <u>Commons</u>, and the <u>Public Policy Commons</u>

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Social and Behavioral Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Wayne Wolf

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

> Review Committee Dr. Mary Brown, Committee Chairperson, Public Policy and Administration Faculty

Dr. Victor Ferreros, Committee Member, Public Policy and Administration Faculty

Dr. Anne Hacker, University Reviewer, Public Policy and Administration Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2018

Abstract

Colorado Middle School Principals' Transformational Leadership Characteristics and Colorado's Standardized Test Scores

by

Wayne Wolf

MA, Colorado Christian University, 1999

BS, Colorado State University, 1973

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Public Policy and Administration

Walden University

February 2018

Abstract

Researchers have documented that high expectations do not always result in higher achievement, but the reason for varying results has not been clearly understood. This correlational study was done to find out if the degree of presence of principal leadership characteristics can predict when high expectations are effective and when they are not. Expectancy and transformational leadership theories provided the framework for identifying 9 principal leadership characteristics that might influence student scores on Colorado statewide testing. Existing student testing data were considered the dependent variable, while survey data on the leadership behaviors of Colorado middle school principals were used for the independent variables. Data were tested using a correlational regression analysis. The transformational leadership independent variables of beneficial modeling, inspirational motivation, systems thinking, individualized consideration, and empowerment were each found to be significantly related to statewide test scores at the .05 level. The high expectations variable was not found to be significantly related to test scores by itself but was found to be significant (p = .016) when transformational leadership characteristics were also high. Principals who were perceived to provide teachers with the environment they needed to facilitate student achievement were correlated with higher test scores. Implications for social change include public policy makers' support for transformational educational leadership as a part of providing teachers with what they need in order to meet high expectations.

Colorado Middle School Principals' Transformational Leadership Characteristics and Colorado's Standardized Test Scores

by

Wayne Wolf

MA, Colorado Christian University, 1999 BS, Colorado State University, 1973

Proposal Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Public Policy and Administration

Walden University

February 2018

Acknowledgments

I appreciate the patience and dedication of my committee chair Dr. Mary Brown along with her enthusiasm for sound educational practice.

My wife Kristine provided patience when that was needed and impatience when that was needed.

I also appreciate the effort of previous researchers and the prayers of friends who made this project possible.

Table of Contents

List of Tables	vi
List of Figures	vii
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Background	2
Statement of the Problem	6
Purpose of the Study	8
Research Question and Hypotheses	9
Theoretical Foundation for the Study	12
Nature of the Study	15
Operational Definitions	16
Assumptions, Limitations, Scope, and Delimitations	17
Significance of the Study	21
Summary	
Chapter 2: Review of the Literature	24
Introduction	
Literature Search Strategy	
Theoretical Foundation	
Expectancy Theory	
Social Learning Theory	
Transformational Leadership	
Similar Studies	

Rationale	
Building on Theory to Answer Research Question	
Literature Review Related to Variables	43
Transformational Leadership Variables	
Beneficial Modeling	
Inspirational Motivation	
Systems Thinking	
Individualized Consideration	
Shared Leadership	
Other Leadership Factors	53
Managerial Leadership	
Transactional Leadership	
High Expectations	
Instructional Leadership	
Achievement and Growth Scores on Colorado Tests	59
Covariates	60
Principal Education (Covariate Predictive Variable)	
Principal Experience (Covariate Predictive Variable)	
Principal Gender (Covariate Predictive Variable)	
Socioeconomic Status (Covariate Predictive Variable)	
School Size (Covariate Predictive Variable)	61
School Location (Covariate Predictive Variable)	

Parental Involvement (Covariate Predictive Variable)	62
Community Involvement (Covariate Predictive Variable)	62
Review and Synthesis of Studies Related to Research Question	62
Summary and Conclusions	63
Chapter 3: Research Method	66
Introduction	66
Research Design and Rationale	68
The Study Variables	68
Research Design and Connection to Research Question	69
Constraints	70
Consistency with Other Designs in Studies on Principal Effectiveness	71
Defense of Intervention	72
Methodology	72
Population	
Sampling and Sampling Procedure	
Power Analysis	74
Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	
Archival Data	
Colorado Measures of Academic Success Tests	
Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs	78
Principal Leadership Questionnaire Instrument	79
Operationalization	79

Simple Demographic Survey	
Data Analysis Plan	
Research Question and Hypotheses	
Statistical Tests	
Interpretation of Results	
Threats to Validity	
Threats to the External Validity of the Dependent Variable	
Threats to the External Validity of the Independent Variables	
Threats to Internal and Construct Validity of the Dependent Variable	
Internal Validity of the Independent Variables	
Validity of the Covariates	
Ethical Procedures	
Agreements	
Summary	94
Chapter 4: Results	96
Introduction	96
Data Collection	
Characteristics of the Sample	
Covariates	
Results	
Analysis to Evaluate the First Hypothesis	104
Analysis to Evaluate the Second Hypothesis	106

Analysis to Evaluate the Third Hypothesis	107
Analysis to Evaluate the Fourth Hypothesis	109
Analysis to Evaluate the Fifth Hypothesis	110
Summary Answers to the Research Question	112
Chapter 5: Interpretation of the Results	114
Purpose and Nature of the Study	114
Key Findings	114
Interpretation of the Findings	115
Limitations of the Study	122
Recommendations	122
Implications	123
Conclusion	124
References	129
Appendix A: Principal Leadership Questionnaire	144
Appendix B: Permission Letters	147
Appendix C: Letter to Superintendents and Letter of Cooperation	150
Appendix D: Principal Demographic Survey	

List of Tables

Table 1. Correlation of Covariates with 2016 Eighth Grade CMAS Math Scores	101
Table 2. Descriptive Statistics of the Dependent Variable	104
Table 3. Correlation with 2016 Eighth Grade CMAS Math Scores	105
Table 4. Comparison of High Expectations and Individualized Consideration	108
Table 5. CMAS Scores and Principals Ranked by Model	111

List of Figures

Figure 1. Eighth grade CSAP/TCAP scores below proficiency	
Figure 2. Eighth grade TCAP math scores	
Figure 3. SPSS plot of the dependent variable	103

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Thousands of K-12 students in Colorado are among those across the nation who have not been meeting expectations for academic proficiency on standardized tests. National and Colorado educational policies place the onus on school principals for improving student scores on statewide standardized tests (U.S. Department of Education, 2010; Colorado SB 10-191, 2010). Researchers have found the transformational leadership style to be the style preferred by most principals, but there is a dearth of research to indicate what specific transformational leadership behaviors, or combination of behaviors, can predict higher student scores on standardized tests. The popular solution among educational policy makers and the public is to raise expectations. A poll by NORC and the Associated Press found the largest response to the question of what is the most serious problem facing schools today to be low expectations for student achievement (Tompson, Benz, & Agiesta, 2013). Race to the Top is indicative of federal and state policies that have set lofty goals. Research has shown that sometimes high expectations do not promote educational benefits (Tsiplakides & Keramida, 2010). However, there was a lack of research to indicate when high expectations are productive and when they are not. In contrast to the theory that high expectations are always appropriate, social learning theorists stress the importance of learners having success that will lead to self-efficacy and further success (Bandura, 2009). Social learning theory is compatible with transformational leadership theory in that both stress the importance of mentors modeling desired behaviors. This quantitative study was needed in order to provide research-based information to educational policy makers and educators on the appropriate use of high expectations along with other transformational leadership

behaviors. The appropriate use of transformational leadership behaviors could lead to more productive relationships between policy makers and educators, and may contribute to school climates that facilitate greater academic achievement and higher scores on statewide standardized tests. Students who have academic success would contribute to positive social change by using their talents to make a difference in the lives of others.

Chapter 1 opens with a discussion of national and Colorado state educational policy. Next, I discuss the contrast between the high expectations of the public and policy makers and student results on Colorado's standardized testing. I then address the need for a correlational study of school principals and student test scores while offering testable hypotheses to help answer the question of what can be done to improve Colorado standardized test scores. Next, I outline how I tested expectancy theory and transformational leadership. Then I discuss definitions, assumptions, limitations, scope, and delimitations. The chapter concludes with a discussion of the need to look deeper than averages to analyze possible effects of transformational leadership on standardized test scores in Colorado.

Background

Despite federal and state mandates to encourage schools to score higher on standards-based tests, results in Colorado have remained flat. After the No Child Left Behind Act of 2001 expired in 2007, education reforms were included in the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009. Those reforms became the foundation of the Obama administration's *A Blueprint for Reform* published by the U.S. Department of Education (ED) in 2010 along with a challenge for a "race to the top" in which US students would greatly improve in international testing scores. In his 2014 State of the Union address, President Obama said that Race to the Top, with the help of governors from both parties, had helped raise expectations and results on standardized tests (Obama, 2014). In contrast, Croft, Roberts, and Stenhouse (2016) criticized reform efforts and said that educator morale and productivity were reduced to an all-time low. Student performance in Colorado has apparently neither matched the optimism of President Obama nor the pessimism of Croft et al. Instead, as Figure 1 shows, mean student performance remained flat in Colorado from 2008 through 2013.



Figure 1. Eighth grade CSAP/TCAP scores below proficiency. *Note*. Based on data from the Colorado Department of Education.

I constructed Figure 1 using public data from the Colorado Department of Education website. Results on Colorado standardized testing from 2008 to 2013 showed the persistence of low educational achievement as demonstrated by mean average scores. The number of Colorado eighth-graders scoring below proficiency in reading hovered around 50%, while the number of eighth-graders scoring below proficiency in math remained steady at a little over 30%. The call for a race to the top had apparently resulted in a jaunt on the plateau. If it truly is important to meet the lofty goals set by the president and Colorado governors, then policy makers and educators need to better understand what is needed to improve academic achievement and test scores.

The first goal in the Obama administration's strategy for improving student achievement was to improve teacher and principal effectiveness so that every classroom would have a great teacher and every school would have a great leader (ED, 2010). The first intervention listed to improve persistently low-scoring schools was to replace the principal (ED, 2010). One by one, states followed the lead of the federal government in educational policy. The General Assembly of the State of Colorado adopted Senate Bill 10-191 (2010), which required the establishment of an intensive system to evaluate the effectiveness of licensed educators throughout the state. The flat results, as shown in Figure 1, appear to indicate that there was little immediate impact on CMAS scores resulting from the attempt to make principals and teachers more accountable.

The standards and statewide academic testing adopted by states in the past two decades were an attempt to add objectivity and accountability to educational practice. The unintended consequence of pressure to meet accountability standards could be framing standards as more important than people, including educators and students. With the spotlight on test scores, principals may feel forced to use a more authoritarian approach to see that standards are met (Pepper, 2010). Recent leadership theory (Hickman, 2010) and research (Yang, 2014) indicated that a collaborative approach to leadership is more effective than an authoritarian approach in the long-term.

According to Onorato (2013), education sector researchers have not kept up with business sector researchers on transformational leadership. However, while Onorato's study helped to identify the prevalence of transformational leadership among educators, it did little to further an understanding of what specific transformational leadership behaviors are most effective. Valentine and Prater (2011) compared several leadership characteristics of Missouri school principals with results on Missouri's standardized tests. Their study helped to establish some external validity for earlier qualitative studies done by Jantzi and Leithwood (1996-2009). Valentine and Prater did not specifically address the question of when transformational leadership characteristics might facilitate high expectations and when they might not. A possible reason that results vary in regard to high expectations can be found in social learning theory. This theory holds that failure will lead to discouragement and more failure, whereas success will lead to self-efficacy and more success (Margolis & McCabe, 2003). An experimental study by Belle' (2013) on transformational leadership supported social learning theory predictions. Belle' concluded that giving public service employees the opportunity to work with individuals who benefitted from their efforts increased their motivation.

In a qualitative study, Pryce (2012) found attunement to mentee/student wants and needs supported productive relationships and therefore supported the effectiveness of some transformational leadership behaviors. Recent literature on principal leadership behaviors provided the basis I used to compare those behaviors to standardized test scores. An investigation into the relationship of factors that could lead to a better understanding of an outcome is best addressed through a quantitative research project (Creswell, 2009). Thus, this practical quantitative research study was needed to provide

more information on the relationship of school principals' leadership behaviors with the results from the Colorado Measures of Academic Success (CMAS).

Statement of the Problem

The research problem was a lack of literature specifically addressing how statewide standardized testing scores can be improved. As indicated by statewide standardized test results, Colorado educators were not meeting legislated expectations for student proficiency. Despite lofty educational goals set by the Bush and Obama administrations and echoed by Colorado Governors Owens, Ritter, and Hickenlooper, Colorado standards-based test scores have appeared to remain flat. If maintaining present test scores was the best that could be done, then there was no problem and politicians need not have wasted their breath. If better test scores are possible, then to the extent that improvement can be made, those who have a stake in Colorado education should seek to compare alternatives for what can be done and then align public policy with sound educational practices.

Since 2010, federal and state governments have placed an emphasis on improving principal effectiveness as a means to improve academic achievement (ED, 2010; Dolan, 2013). It is important for researchers to provide sound direction in ways that principals can improve their students' academic achievement. The popular proposition that higher expectations are all that is needed has been brought into question by the results of Valentine and Prater's (2011) research which showed that complex principal behaviors are correlated with standardized test scores. Qualitative studies have shown that educational leaders who are successful at building relationships and shared goals are linked to school improvement on standardized tests (Leithwood, 2005). Conversely, it

would follow that those educational leaders who make demands and are weak in relationship building characteristics correlate with poor student achievement scores. This finding was supported by my research. Therefore, principals who are seeking to improve might be especially cognizant of their relationship building skills. Leithwood only looked at high performing schools, so it would be difficult to conclude what behaviors a principal should avoid based on those findings. In this study, I looked at the performance of all types of schools and have provided information on behaviors a principal should avoid.

Chapter 2 contains analysis of qualitative and quantitative studies related to leadership and student achievement. This study was driven by my contention that more analysis would help provide direction for policy makers and educators. Jantzi and Leithwood (1996) and Angelo (2005) sought to identify characteristics of high performing principals by analyzing those in high performing schools. Geddes (1990) cautioned researchers about conclusions drawn from only studying entities that have the characteristics the researcher is seeking as this could result in selection bias. By seeking data from the full spectrum of schools from high- to low-performing, I sought to contribute an added measure of objectivity, even though the sample size was small. The problem I addressed in this project was the lack of research comparing leadership behaviors with standardized test results. This study thus helps fill a gap in the existing literature so that policy makers, principal preparation institutions, and principals have additional research-based data upon which they can base decisions on what behaviors to maintain, avoid, or adopt in order to improve student achievement.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this quantitative study was to compare the degree of correlation among transformational leadership behaviors and results on Colorado standardized tests. More specifically, the objective of this statewide study was to test the thesis that other principal leadership factors, including relationship building, are more predictive of student achievement than high expectations. In some of the theoretical literature, researchers have associated relationship building with transformational leadership (Burns, 1978; Bass, 1998). I broke the thesis into testable hypotheses that are presented in the next section. These hypotheses were built upon variables that were increasingly defined as I developed this project.

The dependent variable was results for middle school students taking the CMAS for math in 2016. The CMAS was first administered in 2015. Prior to that the Transitional Colorado Assessment Program (TCAP) was used in 2012-2014. I have graphed TCAP results in Figure 1 and Figure 2. These are the only years that the TCAP was administered. It was a bridge between other Colorado standards-based tests. I collected open source CMAS data from the public portion of the Colorado Department of Education website. The large number of students involved in CMAS helped to assure objectivity for the study.

In addition to one dependent variable, I used several independent variables and co-variates for the study. In Chapter 2, I identify five transformational leadership characteristics including beneficial modeling, inspirational motivation, systems thinking, individualized consideration, and shared leadership. These transformational characteristics were at the heart of this research. Four non-transformational leadership characteristics, including high expectations, managerial leadership, transactional leadership, and instructional leadership are also identified in Chapter 2 and underwent much of the same analysis as the transformational leadership behaviors in order to place high expectations and relationship building leadership in context. I used a set of three principal demographic factors for the study to help clarify further when the leadership factors may be most important. These included principal education level, principal experience, and principal gender. Five school-setting factors were identified which could help explain when high expectations, transformational leadership, and other leadership factors are most appropriate. These included socio-economic status, school size, school location, parental involvement, and community involvement. In the past, when statistical calculations were done by hand, such detailed comparisons would have been practically impossible; but with computer programs like SPSS now available, this study is feasible.

One of the things that can increase the validity of a correlative study is to include all the reasonable possible influences on the dependent variable (Field, 2013). This was my primary reason for including four non-transformational leadership characteristics and several co-variates in this study. Analyzing them all at one time was another contribution I made in this study. In the literature review, I discuss the sources I used to identify each of the eight covariates.

Research Question and Hypotheses

The following research question guided the study: To what extent, if any, is there a correlation between nine principal leadership variables and the results on the participating middle schools' CMAS 2016 math scores? I found that there are other principal leadership behaviors that have a greater impact on standardized test scores than high expectations. Based on what I found in the literature review, I decided to study nine principal leadership variables, including the five transformational leadership variables of beneficial modeling, inspirational motivation, systems thinking, individualized consideration, and shared leadership, and the four non-transformational leadership variables of managerial leadership, instructional leadership, transactional leadership, and high expectations.

I divided the thesis into the following testable hypotheses:

 H_0 1: High expectations will be more highly correlated with CMAS scores than any other leadership factor including beneficial modeling, inspirational motivation, systems thinking, individualized consideration, shared leadership, managerial leadership, instructional leadership, and transactional leadership.

 $H_{\rm A}$ 1: At least one other leadership variable including beneficial modeling, inspirational motivation, systems thinking, individualized consideration, shared leadership, managerial leadership, instructional leadership, and transactional leadership will be more highly correlated with CMAS scores than high expectations.

 H_02 : Regression analysis will not correlate transformational leadership characteristics as together influencing CMAS scores.

 H_A2 : Regression analysis will correlate transformational leadership characteristics as together influencing CMAS scores.

 H_03 : High expectations will be highly correlated with CMAS scores regardless of the relative presence or absence of individualized consideration.

 H_A 3: High expectations will be more negatively correlated with CMAS scores when individualized consideration is lowest and more positively correlated with CMAS scores when individualized consideration is highest.

 H_04 : As the covariates of student socio-economic status, school size, school location, principal education, principal experience, principal gender, parental involvement, and community involvement are introduced into SPSS calculations, independent variables will no longer continue to be correlated with CMAS, while high expectations will continue to show the highest correlation with CMAS.

 H_A 4: As the covariates of student socio-economic status, school size, school location, principal education, principal experience, principal gender, parental involvement, and community involvement are introduced into SPSS calculations, independent variables will continue to show correlation with CMAS scores, with at least one other leadership factor showing a greater correlation than high expectations.

 H_05 : The statewide correlations of independent variables and covariates will not help to explain the three-year trends of CMAS scores of 12 randomly selected schools for the study.

 $H_{\rm A}$ 5: The statewide correlations of independent variables and covariates will help to explain the three-year trends of 12 randomly selected schools for the study.

In order to test these hypotheses, I gathered secondary data from the Colorado Department of Education (CDE) website and from principal questionnaires. Data was then analyzed using SPSS and correlational statistical processes. The CDE website contains public information on results from the CMAS. The CMAS is Colorado's standards-based assessment designed by the CDE to provide a picture of student performance to educators, parents, and the community.

Data on leadership characteristic independent variables was collected using a survey that blended the two surveys used by Valentine and Prater (2011). One of the surveys, the Audit of Principal Effectiveness, was developed by Valentine and Bowman (1989). The other was The Principal Leadership Questionnaire developed by Jantzi and Leithwood (1996). The revised survey is in Appendix A, and the permission letters to use the surveys are in Appendix B.

The covariate data was mostly demographics I gathered from the CDE website, while other information was gathered from a principal questionnaire that is included as Appendix D. I tested the covariate data gathered from CDE and principals to see how much predictive power they had on CMAS math scores as compared to the predictive power of principal leadership characteristics on CMAS math scores.

Theoretical Foundation for the Study

My thesis was that the relationship building behaviors of transformational leaders will correspond to productive use of high expectations, with that combination correlating to higher standardized test scores. This thesis comes from a blending of three theories: expectancy theory, social cognitive theory, and transformational leadership theory. The popular idea that high expectations encourage academic achievement could be considered a part of expectancy theory. One aspect of expectancy theory that is supported by social cognitive theory is the importance of success. However, expectancy theory, as expressed in the proposition of high expectations alone, does not appear to account for the negative impact of persistent failure. An important concept in social cognitive theory is selfefficacy, which is the observation that, as people succeed, they gain confidence to be successful in other endeavors. If success is key to greater success, then a leader's ability to discern the needs of the follower and how to generate mutual goals that lead to success is of key importance. The relationship building characteristics of transformational leadership theory likely facilitate the development of self-efficacy. Support for the hypotheses of this study can be found in transformational leadership theory. Conversely, positive results from this study support transformational leadership theory. The theoretical foundation for this study in regard to transformational leadership begins with the work of Burns (1978) and follows the concept through the work of Bass (1987, 1998) and Leithwood (2004, 2009).

Burns (1978) used the word transforming, rather than transformational, to identify an important type of leadership that is to be distinguished from transactional leadership. The relations of many leaders and followers are transactional, meaning they exchange one thing for another such as wages for work (Burns, 1978). Educational examples would include the exchange of grades for conscientious work on lessons and paychecks for fulfilling the duties of teaching positions. In the preferred type of leadership identified by Burns, the transforming leader seeks to identify and meet the higher needs of the follower and not just the physical needs. The transforming relationship is one where both leader and follower advance (Burns, 1978). The only morally legitimate acts of leaders are those that help release human potential (Burns, 1978).

Building on the work of Burns, Bass (1987) said that transformational leaders move beyond self-interests based on contingent reward. Bass used the word transformational rather than transforming and took Burns' theory of leadership further by describing components of transformational leadership. According to Bass, the transformational leader is charismatic, inspirational, intellectually stimulating, and individually considerate (Bass, 1987). While these four categories provide some clarity as to what transformational means, even more specific categories would be helpful for improving testing. Jantzi and Leithwood (1996) developed survey items from Bass' leadership factors to understand teachers' views of principals' effectiveness. The results of their work have enabled researchers to better assess the degree to which principals exhibit transformational leadership (Valentine & Prater, 2011). In addition to using Jantzi and Leithwood's (1996) survey on transformational leadership factors, Valentine and Prater (2011) used a survey developed by Valentine and Bowman (1989) to assess managerial and instructional leadership factors. I briefly describe these non-transformational leadership factors in the definitions section of this chapter, and more fully in Chapter 2; survey items are discussed in Chapter 3.

Bandura's theory of learning helps to explain why transformational leadership is effective. Bandura (1977) placed more emphasis on the power of intrinsic rewards than on the power of extrinsic rewards. This was in contrast to Skinner (1971) who argued that what goes on inside a person is of little consequence. People and animals can be conditioned to behave in certain ways by managing the mechanisms by which they are rewarded (Skinner, 1971). The Skinnerian view of learning appears to compliment the transactional view of leadership, whereas Bandura's theory of learning appears to compliment the transformational theory of leadership. Bandura (2009) emphasized the importance of modeling. Strong emotional bonding is also a factor in learning (Bandura, 2009). Struggling learners will gain motivation as caring mentors assist them to achieve success (Margolis & McCabe, 2003).

In order to answer the research question regarding the degree of correlation between nine principal characteristics and CMAS the approach to this study was to test the idea that the effectiveness of high expectations is dependent on the presence or absence of transformational leadership characteristics to explain when high expectations are appropriate and when they are not. Transformational leadership theory can be used to help explain why some principal behaviors like relationship building are more important than other principal behaviors such as setting high expectations.

Nature of the Study

Researchers have conducted several times more qualitative studies than quantitative studies in education even though policy makers seem to pay more attention to quantitative studies. This limited number of studies coupled with policy makers' preference for quantitative studies compelled me to undertake this study. I determined that finding the relative relationships of numerous predictive variables would fill a concerning gap in the literature and that a correlational design would be best to this end.

I collected data for the dependent variable of results on standardized test scores from the Colorado Department of Education (CDE) website. Data on the five transformational leadership behaviors and four other leadership behaviors were collected using a survey. Demographic data on principals and some data on school environment were collected via a simple questionnaire. Other school data were collected from the CDE website. I used scaterplots, the Pearson correlation with associated tests for significance and multiple regression. in order to establish if there are correlations in the data.

Operational Definitions

Academic achievement: The extent to which educational goals are reached. In this study, achievement was measured using the 2016 CMAS math scores.

Attunement: The ability to empathize, understand, and relate to others (Pryce, 2012).

Individualized consideration: A term defined by Leithwood and Jantzi (1997) as behavior on the part of the leader that shows respect and concern for the personal feelings and needs of others.

Instructional leadership: Using professional training to closely supervise classroom instruction, coordinate the school's curriculum, and monitor student progress (Klinginsmith, 2007).

Managerial leadership: In the context of education, a subset of leadership that includes monitoring operations, planning, budgeting, seeing that teachers have necessary instructional resources, setting schedules, and establishing rules (Prater, 2004).

Mentoring: The impartation of some knowledge, skill, or character trait to a mentee either in private meetings or in a group setting where a leader can influence several individuals at the same time (Herrera, Vang & Gale, 2002).

Transactional leadership: The practice of providing rewards to followers in exchange for desired behaviors (Burns, 1978). Transactional leadership is one of nine leadership factors identified in this study. The other eight include managerial leadership,

instructional leadership, high expectations, and five aspects of transformational leadership.

Transformational leadership: The practice of working with followers to help them attain mutually agreed upon goals, knowledge, skills, needs, and behaviors (Burns, 1978). In this study, transformational leadership includes the five categories of beneficial modeling, inspirational motivation, systems thinking, individualized consideration, and shared leadership.

Assumptions, Limitations, Scope, and Delimitations

Quantitative statistical methods are based on assumptions that must be met in order for the results to be valid. Statistical procedures must match the characteristics of the dependent and independent variables (Creswell, 2009). In order to use many of the statistical procedures, the dependent variable must be continuous, as opposed to being categorical. The dependent variable in this study was scores from the CMAS. CMAS scores are reported by the CDE in percentages so that the dependent variable is not only continuous, but scores could also be considered interval, which is the highest and most useful category of continuous data.

Another assumption is that the sample is representative of the population. The use of a large proportion of a large population eases concerns over the fair representation of the data (Field, 2013). Statewide tests were scored for more than 43,000 8th graders taking the CMAS math assessment in 2016 contributing to its reliability. My use of CMAS scores ensured that the dependent variable of CMAS scores was representative and reliable for each school, since each school had a high participation rate. The purpose of statistical procedures is to evaluate hypotheses. It is more difficult to prove a hypothesis than to reject one. Therefore, researchers make a null hypothesis that is the opposite of the research hypothesis. If the null hypothesis is rejected, the research hypothesis can be accepted. The rejection of a true hypothesis is a Type I error. The acceptance of a false hypothesis is a Type II error. The probability of making a Type I error is defined as the level of significance (Frankfort-Nachmais & Nachmais, 2008). A researcher setting a .05 level of significance will probably reject 5% of true hypotheses. It is acceptable and common for the level of significance to be set at .05, so that was the level I set for this research. If the significance level was less than .05 for any of the five hypotheses, the respective null hypotheses might have been rejected and the research hypothesis would have been accepted and the research hypothesis rejected.

To have a feasible project, the researcher must manage the scope of the study. A limitation that seemed necessary to complete this research project was to limit it to one state. I selected Colorado because state test records are conveniently located, which reduced research costs. The Colorado population does not appear to have any characteristics that would have unduly biased the project. Comparing results to those of a similar middle grades study in another state, such as that of Klinginsmith (2007), could also increase external validity. If other researchers will perform similar studies in other states, the results will be more generalizable. If similar results are found in elementary schools, middle schools, and high schools, generalizability will be increased even further.

Proving that standardized tests are the best means to demonstrate student achievement was not a proposed goal of this research project. In the classroom, a teacher may more quickly and more accurately assess a student's academic level by working with them than by knowing their standardized test scores. However, for purposes of objectively discerning general trends, test scores can be more useful than teacher observations. The introductory comments by the president and Colorado governors show that standardized test results have become politically and socially important in themselves. Haptonstall (2010) found a positive relationship between Colorado standardized test scores and teacher assessments of academic achievement. Improving test scores correspond to at least some academic achievement. Whether or not standardized tests are the best measure for the classroom, they are objective and important to policy makers and the public.

It was also beyond the scope of this study to make a distinction between the effects of transformational leadership on students in different grade levels. More definitive results need to be found for any of the grades before comparisons can be made. Even though developmental psychologists have noted differences in age groups, it was beyond the scope of this study to try to apply those differences to possible differences in the effects of transformational leadership. My plan for this project was to work within the limitation of one age group and to accept the accompanying limitation of the validity of this particular study. However, results from this study could be compared with those from Ergle (2012), Angelo (2005), Klinginsmith (2005) and Prater (2005) to see if there is any general agreement that would extend the validity of the studies. Ergle studied elementary principals, Angelo and Klinginsmith studied middle schools, and Prater studied high schools. If there are any similarities, then researchers could conduct further studies to make refinements in effects according to age. Using the CMAS instruments somewhat

limits the ages that can be studied. CMAS was administered to grades 3-10 in 2015 and 2016.

A gap in the literature I explained earlier in the chapter was a lack of externally valid studies on the relationship of transformational leadership with academic achievement—not that there is an abundance of any studies on the subject. A correlational study could provide that external validity if its findings were statistically significant. Statistical significance does not dictate whether a positive relationship exists or not. If statistical significance and a positive relationship are found, then it is highly likely that the relationship is indeed positive. If the relationship is found in a large sample, there is a high degree of external validity. In planning this study to obtain the best chance at external validity, internal validity had to be sacrificed, because of the nature of external and internal validity. It is generally not practical to have control (internal validity) with a large number of people (external validity),

There was a desire on my part to support the thesis, which may have introduced bias into the study. A study is only of value if it is done objectively so that a person with an antithetical view would have the same results. Some of the features of this study that helped reduce bias were my use of CDE data for the dependent variable, my use of an established survey for the independent leadership variables, and my use of simple data for the covariates. I made several statistical analyses and reported all relevant results so that there would not be an appearance that only favorable results were reported.

Planning a practical test of the hypotheses meant limitations to the validity of the argument. For an externally valid statistically significant finding to be made in a correlational study of several variables, a large sample is preferred. With large numbers

that cannot be controlled, the resulting study would be weak on internal validity. However, this correlational study had the potential of expanding the external validity of the internally valid studies on which I based the concepts of this study. The statistical analysis of the data in large part determined the degree to which the study was generalizable (Field, 2013). As the statistical test assumptions were met and statistical significances were found along with high correlations, then results could be generalized.

Significance of the Study

Even without the pressure of legislated academic achievement standards, it is important to provide the best educational environment for all youth. Researchers in juvenile studies have discussed the cost to lives filled with failure and disappointment. For example, Larose and Tarabulsy (2014) noted that school dropout has been associated with receiving social aid, being involved in illegal activities, physical health problems, mental health problems, and becoming parents of children who are more likely to drop out. An increase in educational attainment leads to higher market earnings, a decrease in the costs of criminal activity and social welfare dependency, and an increase in service to the community (Perez-Arce, Constant, Loughran, & Karoly, 2012). According to Bandura (2007), success in one area, such as education, leads to self-efficacy and success in other areas, such as employment. Several studies in the literature review together indicated that transformational leadership factors appear to have the potential of helping children to achieve more academically, which will lead to more opportunities for them. As children enter the adult world, they can be better prepared to make significant social contributions.

I conducted this study because it would either validate the popular emphasis on high expectations or it would point to a need to marshal resources commensurate with meeting those expectations. My study brought to light the negative effects of a lack of productive behaviors. This quantitative study could help verify that those characteristics discovered in qualitative studies can be used to predict success or failure on statewide standardized testing.

Summary

This correlational study helped fill a gap in the literature by extending research on the possible benefit of principals' use of transformational leadership factors as they relate to student achievement on statewide standardized test scores. Knowledge from this study could help principals use more effective practices in developing successful schools. Even if the results are only valid for some Colorado middle schools, a substantial population is involved. The sample was found to be representative of the population so the results can be used by educators to consider what principal characteristics have the most influence on standardized testing.

If transformational leadership characteristics continue to be found to contribute to the productivity of followers, then there are also implications for legislators. It is important not to convey an adversarial and imposing attitude toward educators if the hope is to give them incentive to help students. In 2009, governors and state commissioners of education from 48 states launched an effort to develop Common Core State Standards (Corestandards, 2014). Coupled with legislated accountability, on the face of it, educators had a reason to feel disrespected. Perhaps they are just robots who are supposed to fill student robots with the proper measure of mandated knowledge. There is a human response to want to reject the whole high stakes testing/common core standards/imposing evaluation system. A random sample of 1,000 Colorado teachers noted that aligning their curriculum with Colorado standards had improved instruction. However, attention to Colorado testing had lowered faculty morale (Taylor, Shepard, Kinner, & Rosenthal, 2003). Dewey (2010a) was in agreement with the importance of teachers being able to empathize with students, but he also recognized an importance in having a curriculum. In order to make the necessary standards palatable, educational leaders must make an extra effort to overcome their innate dehumanization. Then standards can lead to productivity.

Chapter 2 includes reviews of qualitative and quantitative studies that help define transformational leadership as it might look for educational leaders. This is followed by a review of theoretical literature that provides a basis for expecting that transformational leadership practice by educators would lead to academic achievement. Chapter 2 describes the development of the theory of transformational leadership as it has been applied to educational leadership. Two other educational leadership theories, managerial and instructional, are briefly described. The informal theory of high expectations is discussed, especially in relation to the other three educational leadership theories. The theoretical discussion also includes the relationship between leadership and learning. The majority of Chapter 2 describes literature on the study variables. The outcome (dependent) variable is results on Colorado's standardized tests, particularly the Colorado Measures of Academic Success. The independent variables are educational leadership characteristics, including high expectations. The chapter concludes with a brief description of covariates identified in the literature.
Chapter 2: Review of the Literature

Introduction

More than 40% of eighth graders scored below proficient on Colorado standardized math tests in each year from 2008-2013 according to statistics found on the CDE website. The popular solution among educational policy makers and the public is to raise expectations. Research has shown that high expectations do not always promote educational benefits. However, there is a lack of research to indicate when high expectations are productive and when they are not. In contrast to the theory that high expectations are always appropriate, social learning theorists have stressed the importance of learners having success that will lead to self-efficacy and further success. Social learning theory is compatible with transformational leadership theory in that both stress the importance of mentors, such as school principals, modeling desired behaviors. National and Colorado educational policy emphasizes principal leadership accountability. Researchers have found the transformational leadership style to be the one preferred by most principals, but there is a dearth of research to indicate what specific transformational leadership behaviors, or combination of behaviors, are most likely to predict higher student scores on standardized tests. The problem I addressed in this project is the scarcity of research comparing specific leadership behaviors with standardized test results. One goal was to find out if transformational leadership behaviors can predict when high expectations are effective and when they are counterproductive.

The purpose of this study was to provide data and analysis to help fill a gap in the existing literature so that policy makers, principal preparation institutions, and principals

will have additional research-based data upon which they can base decisions on what behaviors to maintain or adopt in order to improve student achievement. More specifically, my objective in this statewide study was to test the thesis that other principal leadership factors, including individualized consideration, are more predictive of student achievement than high expectations. In order to test that thesis, I gathered data from the CDE website and from principal questionnaires, then analyzed that data using correlational statistical processes in SPSS. The results of the statistical analysis indicated which principal behaviors were correlated with proficiency on standardized academic achievement tests.

In order to assess what is happening in U.S. and Colorado education, there is a need to look deeper than statewide averages by exploring what is happening at the local school level. In order to support the idea that local school performance varies among schools and from year to year, I randomly selected four Colorado middle schools from the public list on the CDE website. Then I constructed Figure 2 using public information from the CDE website. The random sample of four middle schools shows that there are differences in individual school performance. Data from these four schools was not intended to be representative of the more than 150 Colorado middle schools. The only point I intended to make was that individual schools can vary widely from the state average, and it only took four schools to show the validity of that observation.



Figure 2. Eighth grade TCAP math scores. *Note*. Based on data from the CDE website. The y-axis is the percentage of students who scored proficiently.

One middle school (MS#1) started with low scores in 2012 with a score of 38%, improved greatly in 2013 to 60%, and then had a decrease in 2014. A second middle school (MS#2) started with low scores and stayed much the same. A third middle school (MS#3) started with high scores, lost a little, and then increased more. A fourth middle school (MS#4) started with low scores, increased, and then fell dramatically. The difference in school performance from year to year begs the question of why. If correlations are found among principal behaviors and test scores, then it would be desirable to study whether or not those correlations could predict the differences in school test scores.

At least a few schools differ from the mean. Looking at the means alone provides a deceptively bland picture of what students are doing. In this project, I sought to look at a spectrum of school achievement that would provide a clearer picture of what has been taking place in Colorado middle schools, with the goal of finding why some schools do better than others. Some of the factors such as socio-economic status are beyond the educator's realm of influence. However, educators can modify their own behavior.

Perhaps policy makers can help educators to modify their behavior. Croft, Roberts, and Stenhouse (2016) criticized reform efforts and said that educator morale and productivity were at an all-time low. Croft et al. suggested that large-scale testing is worse than a waste of time, contending that it leads to student illness over test angst and it satisfies corporate greed to produce the expensive testing materials. Although Randi Weingarten, president of the American Federation of Teachers, also acknowledged that educators are working in a hostile environment, she has advocated for national tests aligned with national standards for core subjects (Kearney, 2011). Weingarten's position appears to align with that of Colorado teachers. A random sample of 1,000 Colorado teachers noted that adjusting their curriculum to Colorado standards had improved instruction. However, attention to Colorado testing had lowered faculty morale (Taylor, Shepard, Kinner, & Rosenthal, 2003). It appears that most teachers are resigned to largescale testing while the public and policy makers are staunchly in support. Statewide standardized testing is currently a given. The practical issue becomes how to improve student scores. Perhaps if scores improve, public trust may be restored, with a resulting freedom to help students pursue their individual dreams.

Perhaps findings from this study could help governmental leaders avoid the type of mistake that was made in the education-related policy of ending federal funding of school mentoring programs. There was an important exception to the overall modestly positive research results on school-based mentoring. In 2009, the ED contracted with the National Center for Education Evaluation (NCEE) to assess the effectiveness of the school-based mentoring programs funded through federal grants. The NCEE assigned Bernstein, Rappaport, Olsho, Hunt, and Levin to the evaluation work. Bernstein et al. (2009) found that programs receiving grant funds through the ED student mentoring program had no statistically significant impacts on student outcomes after one school year. Findings from the Bernstein study were used to eliminate funding for mentoring programs from the FY 2010 federal budget (Wheeler, Keller, & DuBois, 2010).

The Bernstein study reported averages of all the programs together rather than assessing individual programs or groups of programs. In contrast to Bernstein et al., Gray (2012) found a highly significant improvement in grades in a treatment group of 40 African-American males over a control group of another 40 African-American males. If some mentoring programs were above average, then some programs were below average. The averages likely hid the impacts of programs that were doing well and those programs that were detrimental. Perhaps the averages of standardized tests mask the degree of success or failure of individual schools.

In FY 2010, Congress and the president cut funding for a federal mentoring program because of flat results calculated on the basis of program-wide averages. Eliminating funding for K-12 is not politically feasible, but the same type of mistake can be made in evaluating its effectiveness. In the 1990s and early 2000s there was a great expansion of mentoring programs after the publication of favorable research. Tierney and Grossman (1995) found an average increase of 3% in GPA over the course of an 18-month study period. The number of Big Brother/Big Sister (BBBS) school-based matches grew from 27,000 in 1999 to 90,000 in 2002, while community-based matches grew

nationally from 92.000 to 100,000 during the same period (Herrera, 2004). In 2006, the National Mentoring Partnership (2006) estimated there were 2.5 million young people in formal mentoring programs.

School-based mentoring was included in the 2001 iteration of the Elementary and Secondary School Act called No Child Left Behind (NCLB). The NCLB legislation specified standards for entities to meet in order to qualify for the grants. Researchers conducted numerous studies on the effectiveness of mentoring between 1995 and 2011, which showed modest benefits from mentoring. A meta-analysis reviewing 55 evaluations of youth mentoring programs by DuBois, Holloway, Valentine and Cooper (2002) showed an effect size of .11. Karcher (2008) evaluated a sample of 516 predominantly Latino students across 19 schools and found a similar .10 positive effect on self-reported self-esteem, on connectedness to peers, and on perceived social support from friends.

Not differentiating between effective and detrimental mentoring led to the removal of funding for all, including some productive programs. Not differentiating between poor- and well-performing schools has led to unproductive pressure. Mentoring research points to which behaviors could be productive and which are detrimental. Mentoring research brings together concepts from expectancy theory and social learning theory that provide a foundation for research on specific leadership behaviors. Mentoring research is illustrative of the fact that judging the success or failure of education exclusively by mean averages provides an inadequate view of the problem that is not helpful in making progress. The big mistake was overlooking positive and negative programs, which contributed to a knowledge gap. In this chapter, I describe the development of transformational leadership theory as it has been applied to educational leadership. I then briefly describe two other educational leadership theories, managerial and instructional, before discussing expectancy theory, especially in relation to leadership theory. The theoretical discussion also includes a discussion of the relationship between leadership and learning. The majority of Chapter 2 includes review of literature on the study variables. The outcome (dependent) variable was results on Colorado's standardized tests, particularly the CMAS. The independent variables were educational leadership characteristics, including high expectations. I briefly describe the Covariates identified in the literature.

Literature Search Strategy

I searched ProQuest, PsychInfo, SocInfo, ERIC and Google Scholar to identify articles published between 2009 and 2016 using keywords *principal leadership*, *managerial leadership*, *instructional leadership*, *beneficial modeling*, *inspirational motivation*, *systems thinking*, *individualized consideration*, *shared leadership*, *high expectations*, *school-based mentoring*, *attunement*, *transformational leadership*, *academic achievement*, *standardized testing*, *education policies*, *and social cognitive theory*. The references from those articles provided leads to significant research and seminal theory.

The CDE website was my source for results on statewide standardized testing through its Schoolview/Cognos database. The CDE website also included technical information on the validity of their tests, as well as articles explaining standards and accountability policies. The library stacks at the University of Northern Colorado, Denver University, the University of Colorado, and Colorado State University were sources of current and seminal work in educational leadership as well as textbooks on quantitative research. With such a rich body of literature, my challenge was to focus on a single thesis and research project.

Theoretical Foundation

The theories that were especially relevant to the purpose of this study were expectancy theory, social learning theory, and transformational leadership theory. I developed the theoretical foundation of this study by combining theories that explained well-done mentoring research. Mentoring researchers have identified traits of successful and unsuccessful mentors. In mentoring research, mentors have been divided into two categories based on their goals (Morrow & Styles, 1995) with one category labeled as *developmental* and the other category labeled *prescriptive*. Developmental mentors are those who focus on developing relationships. Prescriptive mentors are goal oriented, sometimes to the exclusion of considering what the mentee thinks is important. Researchers have found that mentors with relationship goals are more positively effective than mentors with prescriptive goals (Pryce, 2012).

In a study of three group mentoring programs, Herrera, Vang, and Gale (2002) found that group mentors who had strong relationships with their mentees exhibited behavior that was consistent with that of mentors in strong one-to-one relationships. For example, successful mentors were sensitive to youth's preferences, getting to know them personally rather than focusing exclusively on the program. It would appear not too large a step to go from group mentoring to teaching. DuBois and Silverman's (2005) analysis of Wave III of the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health showed a broad range of benefits from naturally occurring mentoring relationships. Natural mentoring relationships, such as with teachers, accounted for more than two-thirds of all reported youth mentoring relationships (DuBois & Silverman, 2005).

Relationship development could be similar to what Pryce (2006) labeled as attunement. In a qualitative study, Pryce (2006) associated highly satisfactory mentoring relationships with higher mentor attunement and unsatisfactory mentoring relationships with low mentor attunement. Attunement and relationship building are characteristics of transformational leadership. Prescriptive goals could be associated with transactional leadership and high expectations. As transformational leadership can be correlated with better standardized test scores than transactional leadership, the validity of Pryce's and others' work can be broadened. Educational research on transformational learning has tended to focus on change rather than on the importance of relationship building, regardless of the degree of change that is needed.

Although Carter's 2008 study resulted in a lack of statistical significance, her rich descriptions illustrate the relationship between mentor and mentee that could correspond to principal/teacher and teacher/student. Carter (2008) had 10 middle school students take a reading achievement test before and after a mentoring program. The largest difference was a negative change of 23 points. That student with the negative change felt the mentor was making him do work that was too hard. The mentor expected that the student could and would do the work. The student who gained the most (13 points) said that her mentor helped her talk about important matters, and was always nice to her. These dramatic results were hidden by the mean which showed no overall gain by the group. The differences are consistent with investigations by Morrow and Styles (1995) who found

that mentors who focus on the relationship tend to be more successful than those who focus on meeting expectations.

Those who have studied mentoring for decades, such as, Rhodes (2002) discuss both the risks and rewards of mentoring youth. Rhodes stated that the ability to understand and respond empathetically to others' experiences is necessary to form a bond in a relationship so that good things result. Rhodes warned about the large risks of poor mentor/mentee relationships, as well as the moderate benefits of successful mentor/mentee relationships. Three areas of enhanced development were identified by Rhodes (2002): 1. Social and emotional well-being; 2. Cognitive skills; and 3. Service as a role model and advocate. It is easy to then associate increased cognitive skills with academic achievement. Pryce's (2012) work appears to support Rhodes (2002). Relationship building may be key to the change that is expected in transformational leadership. Testing whether or not the prescription/relationship building distinction applies to schools was incorporated into the variables that were tested in this study. The prescription approach was to be analyzed in the context of high expectations and the relationship building approach was to be analyzed in the context of transformational leadership, particularly individualized consideration.

Expectancy Theory

High expectations are a proposition of expectancy theory. The idea is that having high expectations will lead to high achievement, whereas low expectations will lead to low achievement. It is not just public officials and the public who advocate for high expectations. In the first paragraph of the first chapter in his book *Teach Like a Champ*, Lemov (2010) says that high expectations are the most reliable driver of high student achievement. Lemov then refers to the Pygmalion in the classroom study. Despite the fact that it is an old study that was sharply criticized by other researchers when it was published, Pygmalion in the classroom may be the most familiar educational research to those interested in education today. In their discussion of Pygmalion in the classroom, high expectations were brought to the forefront by Rosenthal and Jacobson (1968). Rosenthal and Jacobson compared two groups of elementary students. For one group, teachers were told that they were going to have an exceptionally good group of students the coming year. The teachers of the other comparable group of students received no instruction that would lead to higher expectations. Rosenthal and Jacobson reported that at the end of the school year IQ tests showed that the Pygmalion group outperformed the control group.

Flashoff and Snow (1970) criticized the statistical analysis used in Rosenthal and Jacobson (1968). No "expectancy advantage" was found for grades 3 through 6 of the treatment group. The number of first graders in the experimental group was 7 and the number of second graders in the experimental group was 12. The validity of the study is stretched considerably to go from 19 first and second graders to national policy for K – 12. In 1971, Rosenthal and Rubin (1971) offered a refutation of Flashoff and Snow (1970) in which they said that the reevaluation of data by Flashoff and Snow did not change their findings. In their report of positive results for self-fulfilling prophecy as fostered by teachers, Tsiplakides and Keramida (2010) pointed out that Rosenthal and Jacobson's (1968) results were not always confirmed by other researchers. Perhaps the findings reported in the Pygmalion study were not solid to begin with.

It is unlikely that there is any study on expectancy theory that is similar to this dissertation. This project challenges the assumption that high expectations are the most reliable driver of student achievement. Other studies on expectancy theory were discussed in the section on high expectations as one of the study variables.

Social Learning Theory

Social learning theory may help explain when high expectations are effective and when they are not. A part of Bandura's broad social learning theory is self-efficacy. Selfefficacy is the concept that as people have success they will feel more competent to take on other challenges (Bandura, 2007). The opposite may also be true. As people experience failure to meet unrealistic expectations they may tend to give up. There is some similarity between expectancy theory and self-efficacy theory. The goal in both would be for a student to grow in confidence that he/she can and will achieve academic proficiency. The difference is the focus. High expectations focus on the goal. With confident students a lofty goal may be sufficient, but high expectations may frustrate a student who has experienced repeated failure. Self-efficacy focuses on the student having success. The development of self-efficacy may take a great deal of caring, wisdom, and persistence to help some students experience success.

Van Yperen and Orehec (2013) appear to be on the same trek as Bandura, noting that competence is a basic psychological need. People feel confident, or not, on the basis of the standards they are using when evaluating their performance. In a survey of 2,158 workers in a wide range of professions, Van Yperen and Orehec found that an approach of doing things better than they had before was more common to success than striving to do better than others or not to do worse than others. They called the doing things better

than before a mastery approach. Dweck (2006) contributed to this discussion of goals and expectations with the importance of a growth mindset. Dweck's concept of a growth mindset fits with Van Yperen and Orehec's (2013) concept of a mastery approach. Dweck (2006) described the counter-productive thinking as having a fixed mindset. The fixed mindset focuses on talent, whereas the growth mindset focuses on work. Dweck's concepts are based on research she completed in which she observed how children handled apparent failure. Although there is disagreement in the above reports on studies done on the influence of expectations, the research of Rosenthal and Jacobson (1968), Van Yperen and Orehec (2013), and Dweck (2006) together with the concept of selfefficacy help frame the next step in research. We know sometimes high expectations are fruitful and sometimes they are counter-productive (Tsiplakides & Keramida, 2010). We know that the criteria of evaluation influences expectation results (Van Yperen & Orehec (2013) and we know that mindset influences reaction to results (Dweck, 2006). There is a need to know if educators can influence the mindset of those who take the standardized tests and this study may aid in that understanding.

Dweck's (2006) growth mindset that emphasizes work over talent may have implications for public policy. Even though people in the United States have a long history of high work ethic, Bamburg (1994) found that the majority of Americans viewed their success as dependent on their ability whereas the Chinese and Japanese viewed success as dependent upon work. Perhaps what is needed to raise test scores is for Americans to get over thinking they are naturally the best, figure out what steps need to be taken to help each child master each important concept, and then get to work one step at a time, celebrating each accomplishment, all the while modeling a growth concept.

Transformational Leadership

Transformational leadership may be the umbrella that covers the most important set of behaviors that can lead to improved student test scores. The majority of US school principals seem to have embraced transformational leadership (Oronato, 2013). The question is: What specifically have they embraced? Defining what is and what is not transformational leadership is the main topic through the remainder of this discussion on theory and into the discussion related to variables. It is important to develop the theory down to specific behaviors in order to find out how they may enhance student achievement that could be demonstrated by improved standardized test scores.

The identification of transformational leadership began with general observations made by Burns (1978) after a career of studying the character traits of numerous historical leaders. Burns said that the relations of most leaders and followers are transactional. Examples of typical transactional relationships include subsidies for political support, work for pay, and grades for completing assignments. In contrast, the transforming leader seeks to satisfy higher needs, considers mutual aspirations and values, and enables followers to make meaningful choices. Burns said that transactional leadership results in short-term limited change in a follower's behavior whereas transforming leadership transfers follower's needs into something greater, such as hope and aspiration to fulfill goals and values.

Burns (1978) viewed leadership as being closely related to learning. He said that leadership and education become almost inseparable when both are concerned with increasing motivation through means other than indoctrination or coercion. The two types of leadership defined by Burns correspond to two theories of learning: behaviorist and social cognitive. Behaviorist learning theory corresponds to transactional leadership. Social learning theory corresponds to transformational leadership. Behaviorist and social learning theories help us to understand how transactional and transforming leadership work and begin to help us understand what specific tasks indicate their presence.

Behaviorist theory is built upon a simple process called operant conditioning. When a desirable (to the conditioner) behavior is followed by a desirable (to the conditioned) reward, that behavior is more likely to occur again. Operant conditioning also occurs when a person learns to avoid a painful consequence of his/her behavior. Operant conditioning is a scientific fact. However, some behaviorists such as B. F. Skinner (1971) have said that operant conditioning explains so much of human behavior that the concepts of freedom and dignity should be dismissed. The corresponding consequence for leadership is that transactional leadership alone would be worth pursuing.

Clawson (2012) was particularly critical of Skinnerians who argued that leadership should focus only on observable behavior. Clawson said that leaders must also be aware of values, assumptions, beliefs, and expectations. Belle's (2013) work appears to support Clawson rather than Skinner. Belle' claims to have conducted the first experimental work on the performance effects of transformational leadership in the public sector. The participants were 138 nurses in a public hospital in Italy. Belle' found increased performance from those nurses who were exposed to a technique to persuade themselves that they were making a positive difference in people's lives. Belle' found a general positive benefit from transformational leadership on the nurses. She suggested that the emphasis on mission would naturally support public sector employees who are inherently required to look beyond their interests to consider the interests of the whole community (Belle', 2013). The benefit of all the stakeholders does not appear to be the fundamental drive in United States' educational policy at this time. In the past teachers benefitted from adulation about the positive effect they were having on young lives who would become the future of the country. Croft et al. (2016) are probably correct that criticism of teachers negatively affects their performance. The mission and collaboration ideas of Belle' fit with Bass's (1998) concept of inspirational motivation, which was one of the factors used in this study to help define transformational leadership. Belle's work also reinforced Senge's (1994) concept of systems thinking by showing the value of leaders encouraging followers to see their part in the whole organization. Systems thinking was one of the factors used as an independent variable in this study.

Continuing the thoughts of Burns (1978), Bass (1987) said that transformational leaders move beyond self-interests based on contingent reward. Bass (1987) used the word transformational rather than transforming and took Burns' theory of leadership further by describing components of transformational leadership. According to Bass, the transformational leader is charismatic, inspirational, intellectually stimulating and individually considerate (Bass, 1987). Two branches of research developed from Bass' work. The predominant path involves using Bass's Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire (MLQ) that leaders can take to evaluate their style of leadership on a full range of leadership scale which he also developed. For example, Onorato (2013) used the MLQ to survey 45 principals from elementary, middle, and high schools in the New York state area. The results were similar to other studies which showed the majority used transformational leadership, nearly a quarter used transactional leadership, and a few

used passive leadership. The "So what?" question could be asked. Did the transformational leaders provide better results? If the majority of principals are already using transformational leadership, then is that an indication that it is not helping to increase test scores? The other path from Bass' work was blazed by Jantzi and Leithwood (1996) who developed survey items from Bass' leadership factors to understand teachers' views of a principal's effectiveness. The results of their work have enabled researchers to better assess the degree to which principals exhibit transformational leadership (Valentine & Prater, 2011).

According to Onorato (2013), the business sector has made extensive use of Bass' tools while the educational sector has not. However, I found studies from other countries and doctoral dissertations that have studied the relationship between transformational leadership and student achievement. Transformational leadership is not the panacea for all educational problems (Menon, 2014). In Cyprus, Menon found that although transformational leadership predicted job satisfaction, it did not increase teachers' perception of student outcomes. Menon's results were similar to a case study by Angelo (2005) who interviewed teachers and a middle school principal to ascertain why they were a high-performing school. Teachers said that the principal worked on relationships that provided a great deal of job satisfaction, but at the same time questioned how that turned into higher student performance. Perhaps those teachers overlooked the simple fact that students were doing well above average there. The studies by Menon and Angelo demonstrate the need to identify specific behaviors that are transformational to be variables so that a deeper understanding of when those behaviors contribute to student achievement and when they do not.

Similar Studies

The research that is most similar to this dissertation was done by Klinginsmith (2007) who studied the correlation among various leadership factors of middle-school principals and results on Missouri's standardized tests. Klinginsmith successfully established that several leadership factors were correlated with test scores. Klinginsmith did not specifically try to establish when high expectations might be predictive and when they might not be. Probably, through the help of Valentine his advisor, Klinginsmith was able to gather survey data from a majority of Missouri middle-school principals so that analysis showed several of the correlations to be significant. However, Klinginsmith did not take his analysis as far as was proposed in this study in analyzing combinations of variables. Another similar study by Valentine and Prater (2011) compared high school principal behaviors with results on Missouri's standardized tests. Valentine and Prater analyzed possible correlations of nine leadership variables and four demographic variables. My study added to and adjusted those variables based on theory and other research.

Rationale

The rationale for choosing expectancy theory was that it appeared to drive much of the public policy on education. The choice of social learning theory was because it helped explain why high expectations are not always successful. Social learning theory also explains why transformational leadership behaviors can be effective. The emphasis on transformational leadership in this study was based on its popularity among educators and its potential to explain when high expectations are effective. The research question of what behaviors a principal should maintain or adopt to increase standardized test scores is built upon expectancy theory, social learning theory, and transformational leadership theory. My study challenges the assumption that high expectations are always sufficient to increase student proficiency on statewide standardized testing. The study increases understanding in the field of what behaviors are transformational and which are not transformational.

Building on Theory to Answer Research Question

Expectancy Theory, Social Learning Theory, and Transformational Leadership Theory are not antithetical to standardized testing to answer the research question. Some of the calls to get away from educator accountability related to standardized testing are rather emotional. Research itself may not be the enemy and could provide some support. Transformational leadership need not be considered as emotional and unscientific. In his 1911 book on scientific management that was republished in 1972, Taylor said that work should be standardized when the most efficient methods are discovered through scientific study and analysis (Taylor, 1972). This does not necessarily lead to a mechanistic system that is insensitive to human interests. In his testimony before Congress, Taylor said that scientific management has a great advantage over the management of incentive because the initiative of the workman will be regular while the initiative by incentive will only be sporadic (Taylor, 1972). It is not difficult to relate initiative by incentive to transactional leadership. Taylor said that an intimate, close, personal cooperation between management and workmen is a key to scientific management. That sounds similar to transformational leadership. The purpose of this study was to look as empirically as possible at the most efficient and productive type of educational leadership.

Literature Review Related to Variables

Transformational Leadership Variables

Under his leadership, Leithwood and researchers working with him developed the variables of most interest in this study, as well as the instrument used to measure them. In the process of studying influences on teachers' perceptions of their principals, Jantzi and Leithwood (1996) defined six aspects of transformational leadership and then studied their relationship with the demographics of some 420 British Columbia teachers. Jantzi and Leithwood (1996) found that teachers' perceptions were largely explained by alterable, rather than unalterable variables. Besides the four aspects of transformational leadership identified by Bass (1987), Jantzi and Leithwood (1996) added the fostering of group goals and high expectations. The addition of group goals was accepted in this study because this concept maintains the general emphasis on relationship development that is at the heart of transformational leadership. Although high expectations was a key variable in this study, it was not considered here as an element of transformational leadership because it can also be practiced in transactional leadership.

In 2000, Leithwood and Jantzi reported that a survey of 1,762 teachers and 9,941 students found a significant relationship between perceived transformational leadership characteristics and school participation. In 2005, Leithwood reported the results of a large (63 cases across 7 countries) qualitative study on the characteristics of successful school leaders. This study provided another lens into transformational leadership qualities. Dispositions common to many of these leaders included harnessing a caring ethic to a passion for educating children. These leaders also demonstrated a high degree of emotional sensitivity to the needs and aspirations of their teachers, students, and parents.

Successful leaders were described as skilled communicators, willing to listen carefully to the ideas of others, and creative in problem solving (Leithwood, 2005). Qualitative research is helpful in exploring more fully how a leader influences teachers and students but is less helpful in documenting the range of beneficial behaviors and judging their relative power. The complimentary nature of results from qualitative studies combined with results from this correlational study made a case worth considering.

Beneficial Modeling

Modeling is central to social learning theory and a key factor in transformational leadership theory. The discussion of several independent variables to be used in this study begins with modeling. Leadership theorists have discussed the concept of charisma (Hickman, 2010). Bass (1998) used the term *idealized influence* to describe the charismatic leader as one who behaves in ways that result in their being role models for their followers. Furthermore, followers identify with leaders and want to be like them. Bandura (1987) said that modeling can be predicted to have an effect on the actions of others. For example, people laugh when others laugh, they are quiet when others are quiet, and they start leaving events when others leave events. Social cognitive theory emphasizes the power of modeling in learning. Effective leaders model the behaviors they seek in followers (Estapa, 2009). Effective leaders provide an example consistent with the values they espouse (Klinginsmith, 2007). Although transformational leaders take risks, they are consistent rather than arbitrary. They can be counted on to do the right thing. Trust is required for followers to be transformed (Burns, 1978). Transformational principals respond appropriately to feedback from faculty (Prater, 2004).

Mentoring is a purposeful attempt to help people achieve by the use of modeling. Angelo (2005) reported that teachers in a low-income, high achieving school made an extra effort to mentor those students who performed poorly on state standardized testing. Studies in the 1990's on school-based mentoring showed promise for helping at-risk children. The reports of a national sample of youth found that there is a powerful influence by mentors on the educational success of youth (Erickson, McDonald, & Elder, 2009). Valentine and Prater (2011) found modeling to be the most consistently significant factor in principal leadership that was correlated with academic achievement. Although the practice varies widely, many schools have a mentoring program for novice teachers. My study helps to provide information on what formal novice teacher mentoring programs should include, as well as to provide ideas for effective informal mentoring by educational leaders. If mentoring is consciously used for teachers, it would seem that it might be wise for a teacher to consciously and attractively demonstrate the behaviors he/she would like students to acquire. To encourage effective teacher mentoring principals should be conscientious models to their teachers and students.

Inspirational Motivation

Bass (1998) used the term inspirational motivation to describe how transformational leaders motivate and inspire those around them by providing meaning and challenge to their followers' work. Leaders get followers involved in envisioning attractive future states. They are able to communicate expectations that followers want to meet. Transformational leaders have a compelling organizational vision that demonstrates an enthusiasm for work (Estapa, 2009). The leader insures that followers understand their importance to the organization and encourages them to reach their full potential (Estapa, 2009). At times Bass combined charismatic leadership and inspirational motivation into a single factor. Jantzi and Leithwood (1996) kept the concepts separate in their Principal Leadership Questionnaire (PLQ). My study also keeps them separate.

In a study of a random sample of 397 classroom teachers, Eres (2011) found no relationship between the transformational leadership characteristics of school principals and the level of teacher motivation. However, another study found vision building and intellectual stimulation to have a significant effect on teacher's commitment, particularly to school reform (Geijsel, Sleegers, Leithwood, & Jantzi, 2003). The difference may be the result of the aspects of transformational leadership studied. It is important to analyze the dimensions of transformational leadership for their separate effects on teacher commitment and extra effort. In this study five dimensions of transformational leadership were identified as not being transformational.

Taylor (2007) found that self-awareness is an important part of being able to relate to people. This reinforces Clawson's theory of leadership. It is not especially productive to dictate a vision statement. The reason that Martin Luther King's *I Have a Dream* speech was so effective is because so many could relate to it. His speech is an example of attunement that will be discussed further under individualized differences. **Systems Thinking**

Bass et al. (1987) as well as Leithwood and Jantzi (1997) described this transformational leadership factor as intellectual stimulation. Followers are led to be innovative by questioning assumptions, reframing problems, and offering new approaches. My project departs slightly from their concept to include Senge's (1994) concept of systems thinking and the development of a learning organization. Followers are encouraged to see their part in the whole organization. Followers are encouraged to try new approaches and are not criticized for simply having different ideas than their leader. Senge, Hamilton, and Kania (2015) noted that change efforts that are based on rigid assumptions and agendas fail to see that transforming systems is ultimately about transforming relationships. They provided an example of a Nike executive who asked questions to create an environment where designers were challenged to produce products that did not contain toxic chemicals (Senge, et al.). Transformational leaders facilitate problem solving and grow the organization (Estapa, 2009). Belle's (2013) study showed that public employees who taught themselves to look at the effects they were having on customers and the organization were more productive. Modeling a desire to learn may be an important behavior that fits under the umbrella of transformational leadership. It may be that demonstrating a willingness to learn may be more productive in educational leadership than having a know-it-all attitude.

Senge (2012) said that the industrial-age system of education will have to change to a system that provides opportunities for learners to become self-directed, having a larger sense of responsibility who can work in teams and larger networks to solve complex problems. The schools that exemplify these goals have students working on real community problems in which students offer solutions that contribute to a sustainable world (Senge, 2012). Senge did not see this engaging new wave of education as compatible with large-scale testing. However, studies similar to this one may show that students are not only more prepared to participate in business, they will do better on standardized tests if they are engaged in relevant learning activities. Such results would be in alignment with social learning theory that successful learning gives students incentive to have more successful learning (Bandura, 2007)

In applying their business philosophies to education, Goleman and Senge (2014) said that it is important to focus on three areas: our interior world, empathy, and a systematic understanding of the world. The outer focus enables the understanding of how systems interact to form webs of interdependence in families, organizations (schools) and the world. The interior world includes finding a sense of purpose that enables a person to concentrate on tasks and manage emotions. Empathizing, or understanding another person's reality, is said by Goleman and Senge to lead to caring and an ability to work together. The next section on individualized consideration incorporated research that expands the concepts of interior focus and empathy.

Individualized Consideration

According to Bass (1998), transformational leaders pay special attention to each individual follower's need for achievement and growth by acting as a coach or mentor. The leader recognizes and takes into consideration individual needs and desires. Transformational leaders also offer time and support to individuals to achieve their personal goals, especially those that have been previously neglected (Burns, 1978). Goleman argued that the presence or absence of emotional intelligence could be a large factor in success for those who possess cognitive intelligence because of the importance of human relationships. Transformational leaders listen carefully and see the individual as a whole person and not just an employee. Each individual is led in the way best for them, for example, limited direction for some while providing structure for others (Estapa, 2009). A goal for the individually considerate leader is to help develop followers through assigning and monitoring tasks while not micro-managing. The consideration of the mentee's values, attitudes, beliefs, expectations, and abilities facilitates the formation of mutually accepted goals. As the student achieves goals they have confidence to try to achieve more.

According to Dewey (2010b), the most effective teacher quality is the ability to watch and respond to students with regard to the subject matter presented. Those teachers "have a quick, sure, and unflagging sympathy with the operations and process of the minds they are in contact with. Their own minds move in harmony with those of others, appreciating their difficulties, entering into their problems, sharing their intellectual victories (Dewey, 2010b, p. 36). Dewey went on to say that such teachers have the fortitude to identify the successes and failures of this process in order to make improvements. The importance of individualized consideration in the establishment of expectations was at the heart of this study. Although the link between individualized consideration and expectations had not been made, there was evidence that building relationships is important in helping learners to achieve (Morrow & Styles, 1995).

I studied the literature on social and emotional leadership in order to consider whether or not they should be the focus of my research. Bar-On (2006) developed a selfreporting instrument to measure social and emotional intelligence called the Emotional Quotient Inventory (EQ-i). The EQ-i has 133 items and took about 40 minutes to complete. That might be a little long to ask principals to complete. De Vito (2009) used a version of the EQ-i that was shortened to 51 items. The shortening of the instrument took care of one concern, but two others remained. De Vito's study of 64 high school teachers appeared to be very well done and yet she only found one significant correlation in the relationship of teacher burnout and emotional intelligence. The only correlation that was found was between the total EQ-i score and the personal accomplishment aspect of burnout. The Principal Leadership Questionnaire used by Valentine and Prater (2011) produced several significant findings. Also, the Bar-On survey was more narrowly focused, perhaps only relevant to the factor of noting individual differences.

Emotional Intelligence in itself may not be enough to make a difference in student performance. A study by Grant (2008) tested a program that gave two male students with Emotional Disorder an opportunity to express the problems that occupied their thinking. This was not found to be enough to facilitate academic achievement for them. Perhaps it is important for the mentor/teacher/principal to not only be able to ascertain the emotions of the mentee/student/teacher but also to figure out how to adjust learning goals to that awareness. Research that may help explain why the ED boys may not have improved was conducted by Lam and O'Higgins (2011) who found transformational leadership to fully mediate the effects of a manger's emotional intelligence on employee job satisfaction. The narrow focus of the Bar-On survey compared to the Principal Leadership Questionnaire (PLQ) was a major reason for choosing the PLQ for this study.

As Burns (1978) maintained, leadership and learning are close disciplines. Through the concept of mentoring, leadership and counseling are also related. Pryce (2012) took the concept of attunement from counseling and applied it to mentoring. Attunement is the ability of a counselor/leader/teacher/mentor to discern the needs and desires of the client/follower/student/mentee. The attuned leader is attentive and flexible in negotiating activities and conversation topics. Morrow and Styles (1995) observed two types of relationships in mentoring: those which they labeled *developmental* and those which they labeled *prescriptive*. Mentors in developmental relationships focused on developing the relationship. Mentors in prescriptive relationships focused on goals for youth improvement. Attunement was associated by Pryce (2012) with developmental relationships and prescriptive relationships with misattunement. Although they do not use the words, examples of attunement and misattunement can be found in the work of Carter (2008) and Rhodes (2002). Keller and Pryce (2012) found that relationships in which amicable engagement was balanced with adult guidance were rated most favorable by youth mentees. Students involved in sage mentoring relationships showed declines in aggressive behaviors, whereas, students in disconnected pairs showed more negative behaviors. The principal behavior factor of attunement to individual differences may be key to principals leading staff and students to academic productivity.

Shared Leadership

Shared leadership is behavior that demonstrates the ability of the principal to promote cooperation in fostering the acceptance of group goals. Yang (2014) reported a case study in which educational leaders of a Chinese province worked together to help each school principal solve problems, especially in new schools. Yang found that collaboration and the building of a shared vision were critical in school improvement. The collaborative nature of Yang's colleagues was a contrast to the "improve student test scores or we will get someone else" attitude prevalent in American education. At least some segments of American society know better. Hickman (2010) edited a popular graduate level text on leadership. Several of the articles revolved around the topic of shared leadership. In his preface Hickman said that the intent of his book was to help readers to understand what facilitates shared responsibility for leadership. Yu, Leithwood, & Jantzi (2002) described three clusters of leadership practices that all revolve around shared leadership: 1. Developing consensus about goals and priorities; 2. Developing people; and 3. Building a collaborative culture. Estapa (2009) found that effective principals view their primary role as facilitating change through collaboration. Bass (1998) did not identify shared leadership as a separate factor. Rather, Bass described shared leadership as an indication of the morality of a leader. Recognizing that dictators such as Hitler use transformational techniques, Bass distinguished the pseudo-transformational from the transformational leader. The pseudo-transformational leader is willing to harm others. The moral leader seeks to develop the whole group. Nelson Mandela provided a good example of transformational leadership when he refused to take revenge on those who kept him in jail. Mandela enlisted former persecutors for the betterment of all South Africans.

Bass (1998) said that empowerment is a product of individualized consideration, reinforcing the central importance of educator sensitivity to individual differences in their followers/students. While generally appreciative of Maslow's hierarchy of needs, Burns (1978) said that self-actualization was not the pinnacle of a person's development. The development of others is more important than catering to self-interests. Bass (1998) acknowledged that sometimes empowerment of others does not lead to positive outcomes, while maintaining that most of the time there is considerable payoff. Delegating effectively is very important in making empowerment work for the benefit of the organization as well as for the individual (Bass, 1998). Middle school climate can be improved by involving teachers in decisions (Rhodes, Camic, Milburn, & Rowe, (2009). Gordon (2006) described the accountability/standardized tests reform as inadvertently promoting a top down factory like education system so that there is a doubling down on practices that are not working. The answer according to Gordon is to understand the importance of each teacher-student interaction, which includes engaging the student in their education. A principal who engages teachers should help promote student engagement. From the literature it would seem that the factors of individual differences and shared leadership should predict the efficacy of high expectations better than other factors.

Other Leadership Factors

Valentine and Prater (2011) found additional leadership factors besides transformational leadership to be of significance in predicting student success on standardized tests. Various factors may be important for principals to consider in efforts to improve their schools. As researchers began to look at educational leadership from a scientific perspective, the first approach that was advocated was managerial (Klinginsmith, 2007).

Managerial Leadership

In the 1930's the concept of managerial leadership was applied to principals who were expected to use sound business practices (Prater, 2004). Management responsibilities included policy implementation and maintaining organizational stability. Specific managerial tasks included planning, budgeting, seeing that teachers have necessary instructional resources, monitoring operations, setting efficient schedules, and establishing clear and consistent rules (Prater, 2004). With the passage of the Elementary and Secondary School Act (ESEA) in 1965 and its subsequent renewals, principals became increasingly responsible for managing lunch programs, bilingual education, education for the handicapped, and other federal entitlements (Prater, 2004). Classroom management was noted as the most influential factor in first-year teacher success, and principals are expected to help (Monroe, Blackwell, and Pepper, 2010).

Yukl, (1982) conducted a thorough study of literature on principal effectiveness. He found little specifically on principal leadership. Yukl found considerable literature on business management and adapted that information to principal administration. Taking care of the everyday operations of the school are likely foundational to the establishment of a functional school, and therefore necessary to improvement in academic achievement. My study used some of the survey items developed by Valentine and Bowman (1989) that are likely partly based on the work of Yukl (1982).

Transactional Leadership

The relations of most leaders and followers are transactional (Burns, 1978). Transactional leadership occurs when a person takes the initiative to make contact with others for the purpose of exchanging valued items: subsidies for campaign contributions, salaries for teaching, grades for school work (Burns, 1978). The concept of transactional leadership meshes well with the scientific behaviorism advocated by Skinner (1971). Behavior is shaped and maintained by its consequences to the extent that environmental contingencies explain away the concept that man is autonomous (Skinner, 1971).

There is reason to believe that transactional leadership in itself is inadequate to assure improvement on standardized tests. Skinner (1971) said that we need to discard "mentalistic" explanations of behavior. In a belated reaction, Clawson (2012) said there would be leaders who ignore what people think and this would undermine their influence. Burns (1978) said transforming leadership is more complex and is also more potent than transactional leadership. Further, Clawson emphasized the importance of values, assumptions, beliefs, and expectations. Influencing visible behavior alone "is a formula for mediocrity—not for world-class performance" (Clawson, 2012, p. 27). Unless the whole person is engaged, the work will not be as good as it could be.

Maslow's (1970) theory of motivation has been used to emphasize the importance of meeting basic needs before working on higher needs. When combined with Skinner's limitation to observable behavior, Maslow's motivational hierarchy can be seen to reinforce transactional leadership. When the ideas of Burns, Bandura, and Clawson are embraced, the importance of such aspects of Maslow's hierarchy as belonging can be seen as more motivating than candy. Karcher and Hansen (2014) reported that goal directed and relationship building approaches both had positive effects. Conversations involving relationship building produced three times as much satisfaction as goal directed conversations.

Rath and Clifton (2004) used several studies to support their theory of positive psychology. It appears that the number of studies done in the field of education are considerably fewer than other fields such as business. This coincides with Oronato's (2013) observation that there are many studies on transformational leadership in business, but he found none in education. The main thing I found in my educational literature search was anecdotes and opinion. More research studies are needed in education. Rath and Clifton (2004) found a 1925 study by Hurlock on the relative effects of praise, criticism, or ignoring fourth and sixth-grade students. The results were calculated based on the number of math problems solved correctly over a five-day period. The overall improvement of those who were praised was 71%, those who were criticized was 19%,

and those who were ignored improved 5% over a control group. Praise can be viewed as a contingent reward that is effective in increasing student achievement. However, Rath and Clifton pointed out by using examples that praise must be individualized to be effective.

High Expectations

Even though the results of the Rosenthal and Jacobson Pygmalion study may have been hyped, it is reasonable to think that higher expectations lead to higher results. Expectations continue to be correlated with student performance (Tsiplakides & Keramida, 2010). The question is whether or not a legislative mandate for higher expectations in itself can be passed on to principals, teachers, and students with positive outcomes. The literature so far seems to indicate that high expectations in conjunction with transformational leadership factors will lead to higher CMAS scores, but to the extent that high expectations may be present in the absence of transformational leadership factors, positive results likely diminish.

Wineburg (1987) was particularly critical of Rosenthal for claiming that subsequent studies proved that student IQ could be improved by teacher expectancies. Wineburg said that effective teachers adjust their expectations of students based more on classwork than on IQ tests. Jessim and Harber (2005) said that 35 years of research had shown that teacher expectations at least sometimes influence students. It remained unclear whether self-fulling prophecies in general do more harm than good (Jessim & Harber, 2005). Teacher expectations may predict student outcomes more because these expectations are accurate than because they are self-fulfilling. Jessim and Harber acknowledged that some teachers limit students by their low expectations. Brookover and Lezotte (1979) provided an example of how teachers limit students. They examined six improving elementary schools and two schools that had declined in state assessment scores. The improving schools were found to emphasize the importance of basic goals while staff believed that each student could accomplish these goals. The declining schools did not emphasize goals and staff tended to believe that their students could not achieve them if they did have goals (Brookover & Lezotte, 1979). In a study of teacher expectations of classroom behavior, Lane, Pierson, Stang, and Carter (2010) found that teacher expectations vary little as a function of school risk. Teachers as a whole do appear to have uniformly high expectations, at least in regard to student behavior. Perhaps many teachers need to be more flexible in order to encourage student growth and achievement, which may be difficult to do in a society that is asking for stricter adherence to academic and behavioral standards.

One measure that has been suggested to ascertain the adequacy of teacher expectations is student assessments of the difficulty of their work. In an article admonishing educators to challenge students, Boser (2012) reported that 29% of eighthgrade math students nationwide said their math work was often too easy. Using that same statistic, it should be pointed out that 71% must have thought their math work was either just right or too difficult. The challenge should not be for teachers to uniformly raise the difficulty level of curriculum, but rather for teachers to adjust their curriculum to fit the needs of all of their students, to the 29% as well as the 71%. The importance of teachers being able to discern the needs of their students was discussed earlier under the topic of *Individualized Consideration* in the literature related to variables

Instructional Leadership

Instructional Leadership is a term that came into prominence in the 1980s and 1990s to encase responses to demands for better education prompted by A Nation at Risk and other calls for educational reform (Prater, 2004). In contrast to borrowing managerial techniques from business, the instructional leadership paradigm emphasized the unique aspects of education. In general, instructional leadership meant that principals should become directly involved in instruction. More specifically, instructional leadership came to include knowledge of effective schooling, commitment to quality instruction, coordination of curriculum, close supervision of classroom instruction, coordination of the school's curriculum, and close monitoring of student progress (Hallinger & Murphy, 1986). Teachers have attributed success in improving scores on standardized tests to a principal's instructional ability (Angelo, 2005). Knoll (2002) wrote a popular guide book for administrators on how to improve achievement test scores. Knoll's book appears to be from the instructional leadership perspective providing numerous worksheets and how to steps. The book does not refer to research to explain why certain things should be done. That may be because the predominant form of educational research is testimonials about certain methods and materials that appear to bring about desired outcomes.

The instructional emphasis of the effectiveness movement is important but Hallinger and Murphy (1986) said it was an overreaction to the previous emphasis on managerial leadership. However, both are important. Instructional leadership was the dominant paradigm during the 1980s and 1990s (Prater, 2004). Then amidst increasing calls for principals to be change agents, transformational leadership became the prospect for better education. Transformational leadership was expected to develop personal commitment which would result in extra effort and greater productivity.

Achievement and Growth Scores on Colorado Tests

The more obvious manifestation of the dependent variable is school-wide achievement scores on the Colorado Measures of Academic Success (CMAS). These are available to the public on the Colorado Department of Education's website. The CDE worked with other states in using the Partnership for Assessment of Readiness for College and Careers (PARCC). In 2015, PARCC was a part of the more general CMAS. In 2016, CDE modified PARCC, dropped that moniker and just called the test CMAS.

Because of the importance placed nationally on STEM (Science, Technology, Engineering, and Math) this study uses the math scores from CMAS rather than the language arts scores. A unique manifestation of the dependent variable is the CDE's growth statistic. Castellano and Ho (2013) provided a general explanation of growth models as a means of evaluating school success. Along with other models, they describe the Student Growth Percentile (SGP) Model that is used in Colorado as a percentile regression. Students receiving a SGP of 80 performed as well or better than 80 percent of their academic peers. I used the growth statistic in the data analysis to test the predictability of the new transformational leadership model that I developed. Hapstonstall (2010) found a significant correlation between student grades and results on Colorado Student Assessment Program tests, so that there is a correlation between many teachers' assessments of academic achievement and the results on statewide tests.
The Transitional Colorado Assessment Program (TCAP) was administered in Colorado from 2012-2014. The original proposal was to use the TCAP results from 2012-14 as the dependent variable. Getting the proposal approved took longer than expected and it became more attractive to use the more recent CMAS test. The High Quality Test Project (HQAP) did not evaluate CMAS/PARCC in a traditional research manner (HumRRO, 2016). Rather, those evaluating the PARCC in the HQAP determined that PARCC placed a strong emphasis on the most important content of the Common Core State Standards which place an emphasis on college and career readiness. The HQAP further found that PARCC required students to demonstrate the full range of thinking skills called for by Common Core (HumRRO, 2016). The lack of traditional reliability information on PARCC and that many students opted out of the 2015 test are of some concern. However, the Colorado Department of Education modified the PARCC in the 2016 CMAS to where they were comfortable that it measured the standard objectives that they had established.

Covariates

Covariates are supplementary rather than the focus of this study so they will be discussed more briefly. Valentine and Prater (2011) included three principal demographics in their study that appear to be appropriate for my study also.

Principal Education (Covariate Predictive Variable)

Valentine and Prater (2011) found a positive relationship between higher principal education and better scores on the school's standardized test scores. The short principal survey also asked their level of education as Bachelor's degree, Master's degree, and doctorate.

Principal Experience (Covariate Predictive Variable)

The number of years of principal experience was not as great a factor as principal education in Valentine and Prater's 2011 study. Although experience has not been found to be a major factor in a few studies it was included in this study to see if previous findings can be confirmed.

Principal Gender (Covariate Predictive Variable)

Gender is a demographic item that may have some interaction with how predictive variables operate. Leithwood and Jantzi (1997) found that female principals were rated by teachers as being more transformational than male principals.

Based on the literature, five characteristics of schools will be included as covariables.

Socioeconomic Status (Covariate Predictive Variable)

Deutsch, Lawrence, and Henneberger (2014) said that socio-economic status should be considered in attempts to foster deeper relationships with youth. In an analysis of how principal leadership affects student achievement, Angelo (2005) found that there are high performing middle schools in low income areas. The operational definition of socio-economic economic status (SES) for this study will be the percentage of students who receive free and reduced lunches as reported on the CDE website for the 2016 school year.

School Size (Covariate Predictive Variable)

Leithwood and Jantzi (2009) found that evidence supports smaller schools, especially for socially and economically disadvantaged students. The CDE provides the number of students in each school.

School Location (Covariate Predictive Variable)

If results from my study would have been similar for different areas, then there would have been some confirmation of external validity. My sample was too small to compare different areas of the state.

Parental Involvement (Covariate Predictive Variable)

A study by Leithwood, McEltheron-Hopkins, and Jantzi (2004) found that principal leadership had a greater influence on improving schools than parental involvement in school decision making. Nevertheless, they acknowledge the importance of parental roles in the home.

Community Involvement (Covariate Predictive Variable)

Considerable research is now available which demonstrates that youth development is significantly affected by out-of-school activities (Mahoney, Vandell, Simpkins, & Zarret, 2009). In their study of adolescent growth from youth activities Dworkin, Larson, and Hansen (2003) found that activities contribute to development because youth are able to direct their participation. Rhew, Brown, Hawkins, and Briney (2013) found positive effects on youth being served by a community cares program. Principals were asked the following question concerning community involvement: What percentage of your students are involved in community activities such as Boys and Girls clubs, 4-H, or after school programs?

Review and Synthesis of Studies Related to Research Question

All of the variables just discussed have some theoretical or qualitative research support. No one study covers all the variables I found, although Klinginsmith (2007) and Valentine and Prater (2004) come close. Leithwood had several qualitative studies that

were referred to in the previous discussion. There was not as much research on principal behaviors as was expected. Because of its popularity and federal funding of mentoring programs from 1995-2007 there was much research on the characteristics of mentors that benefitted mentees and mentor behavior that was a detriment to mentees. Relationship building was found to be beneficial and prescriptive mentoring was found not to be helpful. The lack of benefit from prescriptive mentoring could be related to the high expectations and common standards emphasis imposed on schools. Transformational leadership could offer benefits as it emphasizes relationship building as illustrated by the discussion on individualized consideration. Studies on emotional and relational intelligence discussed in that section have shown those factors to be associated with productive leadership. The Klinginsmith and Prator studies clearly pointed to a complex set of behaviors that are important for principal success, that not only goes beyond high expectations but also goes beyond emotional and relational intelligence. All of the studies provided likely answers to the question of what can be done to improve statewide testing scores. The demographic factors are mostly outside a principal's influence. The leadership variables are within the control of the principal.

Summary and Conclusions

Improvement on statewide tests may be as simple as the popular notion that high expectations are all that are required. However, a survey of education and leadership literature appears to indicate that success on statewide standardized academic tests is a complex matter. The general question is what principals can do to improve statewide test scores of their students. Some of the major themes in the literature include developing relationships versus prescription, high expectation versus individualized consideration, and transformational versus transactional leadership. Social learning theory explains why prescribed activities that do not lead to success lead to an overall decline in achievement, whereas appropriately guided success will lead to further achievement. Expectancy theory explains the limiting factor of low expectations, but it does not explain why high expectations are sometimes not productive. Transformational leadership may be a needed correction to a previous emphasis on transactional leadership in the form of contingent reward.

It is known that transformational leadership is popular among principals and other leaders. It is less known what specific principal behaviors should be considered transformational and which of those are most effective. Little research specific to education has been done on the importance of relationship building which may be a key ingredient of transformational leadership. However, several studies were done when school-based mentoring was flourishing. Some of those studies found that relationship building mentors helped mentees more than prescriptive mentors. It was not known if relationship building principals have a more positive effect on teachers and students than prescriptive principals. Although it appears to be a complex matter, there is a lack of information on what is most important.

A major gap in the literature is a lack of quantitative studies. Several qualitative studies have been done to identify characteristics of principals in high-performing schools. Those do not include looking at low-performing schools to identify any principal characteristics that may be contributing factors. This study included a continuum of high performing and low performing schools to see if there are principal characteristics that can be identified in the sample and how representative those results might be.

Chapter 3 is a discussion of a plan for my quantitative research project to identify principal leadership characteristics that may be correlated with Colorado's statewide testing. In Chapter 3, I will explain how I will test the theories of transformational leadership and high expectations through an analysis of principal survey data and CDE data as it relates to five hypotheses designed to increase knowledge on specific characteristics of transformational leadership.

Chapter 3: Research Method

Introduction

The purpose of this study was to provide data and analysis to help fill a gap in the existing literature so that policy makers, principal preparation institutions, and principals have additional research-based data upon which they can base decisions about what behaviors to avoid, maintain, or adopt in order to improve student achievement. More specifically, my objective in this statewide correlational study was to examine the thesis that other principal leadership factors, including relationship building, are more predictive of student achievement than high expectations. The thesis was broken into hypotheses that I tested using correlational statistical processes and SPSS software. I gathered secondary public data from the CDE website for the dependent variable. Data on the independent variables of most interest were gathered from a rating survey in which teachers assessed the degree their principals have the study characteristics. Results of the study could be important in efforts to help improve student achievement.

As I noted in Chapter 1, thousands of K-12 students in Colorado are among those across the nation who have not been meeting expectations for academic proficiency on standardized tests. The popular solution among educational policy makers and the public is to raise expectations. Research has shown that high expectations sometimes do not promote educational benefits (Tsiplakides & Keramida, 2010). There is a lack of research to indicate when high expectations are productive and when they are not. In contrast to the theory that high expectations are always appropriate, social learning theorists have stressed the importance of learners having success that will lead to self-efficacy and further success (Bandura, 1977). Social learning theory is compatible with

transformational leadership theory in that both stress the importance of mentors, such as school principals, modeling desired behaviors. National and Colorado educational policy emphasizes principal leadership accountability. Researchers have found the transformational leadership style to be the one preferred by most principals (Oranato, 2013), but there is a dearth of research to indicate what specific transformational leadership behaviors, or combinations of behaviors, can predict higher student scores on standardized tests. The problem I addressed in this project was the lack of research comparing leadership behaviors with standardized test results. I hypothesized that the relationship-building behaviors of transformational leaders correspond to productive use of high expectations, and that this leadership/expectation combination would correlate with higher standardized test scores.

The four major sections of Chapter 3 are as follows: Research Design and Rationale, Methodology, Operationalization, and Threats to Validity. In the Research Design and Rationale section, I address the research questions through comparing the outcome of scores on standards-based tests with likely predictor variables. In the Methodology section, I identify the population of school principals along with how I collected data on their characteristics from their teachers. In this section, I also explain the collection of secondary math scores data from the CDE 2016 CMAS. Then I describe the teacher questionnaires along with my plan for data collection and analysis of results from the leadership factors survey and CMAS. In the Threats to Validity section, I describe external and internal threats to validity, as well as how I respected statistical analysis parameters. In this section, I also explain ethical considerations I made throughout this study. The chapter closes with a summary of the study design.

Research Design and Rationale

This was a quantitative study using archival and survey data that I analyzed using correlational statistical methods. Variables were not controlled in this real-life circumstance, so I did not use an experimental design. The population was also not controlled, so I could not use a quasi-experimental design either. I used a correlational design because it provides strong external validity, satisfying a need in the public policy on educational leadership field of study. Congress and the Obama administration used findings from a large-scale correlational study by Bernstein et al. (2009) to end funding for mentoring programs despite smaller qualitative studies that showed modest positive effects from some mentoring programs (cf. Gray, 2012). I determined that if educational policy makers are only going to pay attention to correlational studies, then that is the type of study that is needed to influence public policy.

The Study Variables

Correlational design and analysis measures the degree of relationship between and among variables. The dependent, or outcome, variable of this study was student achievement as indicated by results from the Colorado Measures of Academic Success (CMAS). More specifically, the outcomes were indicated by the CMAS achievement and growth scores for math for eighth grade Colorado middle school students in 2016. I initially proposed using Transitional Colorado Achievement (TCAP) because I was concerned that CMAS scores might not be available. However, since the CMAS scores were available by the time principal data was collected, it seemed better to use the more recent data. The main independent, or predictor, variables were principal leadership characteristics, which include beneficial modeling, inspirational motivation, systems thinking, individualized consideration, shared leadership, managerial leadership, transactional leadership, high expectations, and instructional leadership. Descriptions of these factors appear in Chapter 2. A sample of survey questions that I used to collect data are included in this chapter, and the full survey is in Appendix A.

In order to understand the possible effect of the leadership characteristic variables, it is also important to consider other possible effects on student achievement and how those possible effects might influence the leadership variables. In this study, I identified the other possible factors as covariates. Using covariates can be similar to an experimenter using control variables to more accurately assess the effect of the variable(s) of interest (Field, 2013). Covariates that may contribute to predicting the outcomes on the CMAS include socio-economic status, school size, school location, parental involvement, community involvement, principal education, principal gender, and principal experience. While these eight factors probably contribute to differences in CMAS scores, they are not generally factors over which the principal has immediate control. The exception is principal education, which may be related to the principal developing positive leadership behaviors. Principals should be able to control their leadership behaviors. I thought that including the eight control variables would help in the estimation of the effectiveness of the nine leadership variables.

Research Design and Connection to Research Question

The research question for this study was: To what extent, if any, are there correlations between nine principal leadership variables and the results on the

participating middle schools' CMAS 2016 math scores? The nine principal leadership variables included the five transformational leadership variables of beneficial modeling, inspirational motivation, systems thinking, individualized consideration, and shared leadership, and the four non-transformational leadership variables of managerial leadership, instructional leadership, transactional leadership, and high expectations. Using the quantitative correlational research design, I examined the relationship among variables in the manner described by Creswell (2009). Study constraints helped define the type of quantitative study needed to answer the research question (see Campbell & Stanley, 1963).

Constraints

The correlational/regression design allows the researcher to draw conclusions about whether or not certain principal behaviors are associated with student outcomes on standardized tests. Statistical analysis can help establish the probability of that relationship, but statistical analysis cannot in itself demonstrate cause and effect (Gorard, 2001). However, Campbell and Stanley (1963) reported that a justification for causation can be made using a correlation design, as in the case of smoking and lung cancer. The case for causation can be made stronger by incorporating other plausible explanatory factors (covariates) into the study (Campbell & Stanley, 1963). As the possible effects of the eight covariate effects were quantified, the relative effects of the nine leadership factors could be more accurately assessed.

I gathered quantitative data from the CDE website for the dependent variable along with covariate data including school size, school location, and socioeconomic status as indicated by the percentage of students enrolled in reduced-cost school lunch programs. I gathered independent variable data via two surveys. I used one survey to gather demographic information from principals, and the other survey to gather teachers' assessments of the leadership qualities of their principals through a Likert-like instrument. After approval from Walden's IRB (#02-02-17-0169831), I sent letters to Colorado school district superintendents asking for their permission to contact their principals and the principals to then contact their teachers with the opportunity to complete an anonymous SurveyMonkey assessment.

Consistency with Other Designs in Studies on Principal Effectiveness

In the summary of the previous chapter, I noted that the only quantitative research on the subject of principals and statewide testing were projects by Ergle (2012), Klinginsmith (2007), and Prater (2004). Ergle (2012) used statewide testing, but only covered a metropolitan area. Only Klinginsmith's (2007) and Prater's (2004) studies were statewide. The methodology and some of the analysis in this project were similar to the Klinginsmith and Prater studies. In Chapter 2, I discuss a number of qualitative studies that concern principals and statewide test scores, including those by Angelo (2005) and Jantzi and Leithwood (1997). This project was aligned with many of those qualitative studies, but I took a quantitative approach. In one of the later studies, Ergle (2012) maintained that there is still a need to define what it means to be an effective school leader, including the traits that can be developed that will lead to academic success for students.

Rudestam and Newton (2007) contended that a study should advocate for a position. They did not recommend a search-for-whatever-might-turn-up approach to research. Based on the literature review, I determined that all nine leadership factors

could significantly and positively correlate with math achievement and growth scores on the CMAS. When proposed, this study appeared to be the next logical step in further exploring the role of high expectations and transformational leadership in contributing to improvement on statewide standardized tests.

Defense of Intervention

Since this was a correlational study, there was no intervention in the experimental sense of the word. However, the variables of interest do form a possible intervention. The behavior of the principal is the factor most under his/her control. The nine independent variables in this study are a fairly exhaustive categorization of principal behaviors, each of which has been indicated in other studies as contributing to student success. This study helped delineate which factors are most important by analyzing them in one project. My analysis of groups of factors could help to provide a better model of how variables and covariates interact so that policy makers and principals have a better understanding of the interactions of principal behaviors and demographic factors on student achievement. This project required much work but little intervention in order to find information to aid in understanding factors that can influence student achievement.

Methodology

Population

The target population was principals of sixth through eighth grade middle schools in Colorado. Initially, I had hoped that principal participants would be limited to those who had served in their present capacity for 3 or more years so there was some opportunity for the principal to influence the TCAP scores. However, the TCAP was only administered 2012-2014, and with only eight participants, I accepted all principals and used 2016 CMAS scores instead. The study population was more than 150 in 2016 as determined by a list of principals along with their contact information on the CDE website. The sample of eight was the number of principals who responded to my invitation to participate in the study.

Teachers and students were not a part of the participating study population. However, they were tangential to the study and their numbers are interesting. The principals were asked to give their teachers an opportunity to anonymously respond to a survey, which could have involved as many as 30,000 teachers in those approximately 150 schools. Students in that many schools comprise some 800,000 children. Those numbers would be overwhelming if it were not for the extensive collection, analysis, and publication of data by the CDE. In 2014, the focus of this project was going to be TCAP scores and the principals who served at that time. TCAP was replaced in 2015 by the multi-state Partnership for Assessment of Readiness for College and Careers (PARCC). Instead of using the PARCC moniker, the state of Colorado used the term CMAS. In 2016 Colorado modified CMAS to be more aligned with the state's specific academic standards. Because of the concern for Science, Technology, Engineering, and Math (STEM), I focused on CMAS math scores.

Sampling and Sampling Procedure

The first consideration in a sampling strategy is to decide if a sample is prudent (Gorard, 2001). If at all possible, Gorard encouraged researchers to use the whole population as participants. Having a large sample reduces standard error and helps to assure that assumptions will be met so that parametric statistical tests can be used legitimately (p. 155). The sampling frame and sample was proposed to be the same in this

project so that the whole population rather than a sample of the population would be studied. Considering the low response rate, if I had begun by pursuing only a sample, the number of participants could have been even less. After considering time, finances, and the goals of this proposal it appeared to be feasible and desirable to contact all the principals who served during CMAS testing. However, the IRB wanted a letter of cooperation from school districts first so only those principals whose district superintendents agreed to cooperate were contacted. That reduced the number of principals contacted from 150+ to 32. Past and current principal school addresses and phone numbers have been listed on the public CDE website. The actual number of principals available for the study and the number who would respond was not known until the proposal was approved for data collection.

Using the same advice from Gorard (2001), the plan was to use all the teacher responses. SurveyMonkey provided me with a mean average of the ratings made by respective teachers. The principal was asked to give the survey link to all his/her middle school teachers in order to reduce the possibility of bias from just giving the survey link to part of the teachers.

Power Analysis

The G*Power (2009) version 3.1.9.2 computer program was used to calculate the sample size needed to conduct various statistical tests that accommodate multiple predictor variables. An alpha of .05 and a power of .95 are commonly used levels to indicate significant findings (Field, 2013). Valentine and Prater (2011) found effect sizes for a similar study to be above .20. Using an effect size of .15 should assure a large enough sample.

With G*Power (2009) set to the above levels and 18 predictor variables using linear multiple regression for a fixed model single regression coefficient the reported sample size needed was 74, which appeared to be possible to achieve out of a sample frame of more than 150. Field (2013) said a population of 77 was adequate for a similar type of study. The more that would respond the more likely that there would be significant findings. If the n would have been 74, it would be highly likely that significant findings would result. If the n were to be less than 74 then the plan was to analyze fewer variables at a time. Estapa (2009) nearly had significant results in a similar study with an n of 6 so the plan was to proceed even if only that many participated. With only eight participants it was remarkable that there were several significant correlations in the data analysis.

Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

I contacted superintendents of school districts in order to gain support for contacting their principals. A sample letter is included in Appendix C along with a Letter of Cooperation. I think if I had pressed the point the IRB would probably have agreed to simply asking superintendents to pass the information on to principals and then I would not have needed a Letter of Cooperation, but it seemed more professional to ask districts for a Letter of Cooperation. Superintendents were asked to confirm principal names and contact information as well as inform staff of the research project. From those approving districts, letters were sent to principals explaining the research project, how the data would be used, how confidentiality would be maintained, and that participation was voluntary. Principals were asked to sign a Principal Consent Form and to fill out the Principal Demographic Questionnaire both of which are found in Appendix D. Principals were also asked to provide their teachers with a link to SurveyMonkey so that the only identifier of the teacher surveys was the school. Individual teacher survey respondents remained anonymous to me, and therefore to principals and others. The Likert-type survey for teachers had 34 items to rate the degree to which principals demonstrated certain behaviors. The teacher survey began with information on how their anonymity would be protected and that they were implying consent by filling out the survey which they could cancel at any time.

Data from principals was dated as it was collected to see if there was some pattern that may help in estimating the impact of those who did not respond at all. No pattern on the timing of the few responses were found. Phone calls and emails were made to principals to follow up introductory letters in order to increase participation. Data was entered in SPSS on my password protected home computer. I entered data from Survey Monkey directly into SPSS.

A self-reporting leadership questionnaire was developed by Bass, Waldman, Avolio, & Beeb (1987) but I decided not to use it for this study. Self-reporters may tend not to report negatives on themselves (Field, 2013). Prater (2004) and Klinginsmith (2007) used teacher reporting surveys. I wanted to replicate and expand on their studies and received permission to do so (Appendix B). Prater (2005) used a minimum of two returned surveys per principal. Kinginsmith (2007) used a minimum of three. Both had teacher return rates above 25% (Prater, 2005; Klinginsmith, 2007). With so few principal participants I accepted any number of teacher responses. The question of how many teachers' surveys to use is not equivalent to deciding how large a sample is needed as researchers have found a consistency in teacher responses (Klinginsmith 2007; Leithwood 2005; Valentine & Prater, 2011). I did not limit the number of teacher responses because SurveyMonkey calculated the mean average even when a dozen teachers responded.

Principals were asked to complete a short survey to obtain demographic data on themselves and on their school that was not available on the CDE website. General results from the study will be made available to participating principals. Follow-up contacts were made to request previously requested information from principals. There were no follow-up interviews for new information.

Since the gap identified for this study to fill was a statistically valid set of correlations, I made an effort to have as large a survey return rate as possible. I consulted survey texts by Babbie (1990) who discussed increasing validity and Dillman, Smyth, and Christian (2009) who discussed practical ways to increase response. Some of the things advocated by Dillman et al. are to: communicate as many benefits to the completion of the survey as possible in a brief space in order to motivate various types of people; plan pre-survey and post-survey follow-up reminders; consider a nominal gift; minimize requests for sensitive information; consider sponsorship; and ask for help (Dillman, Smyth, & Christian (2009).

There would not be any exit procedures to debrief nor follow-up to gather more data. A thank you was incorporated into the end of the SurveyMonkey program. Letters of appreciation will be sent to participating superintendents and principals. A report will also be sent to superintendents and principals when the project is completed.

Archival Data

Secondary data was used for the outcome variable of results on the CMAS math results from 2016. The secondary data was available to the public without permission. Secondary data was also used for some of the school demographics which are public and can be found on the CDE website with no need for permission for access. In order to report CMAS results in a useful manner, Colorado researchers have developed a growth statistic that was used as one manifestation of the dependent variable. CDE also rates school achievement scores on a percentage basis. CDE reports achievement and growth for math and reading. I primarily analyzed the math scores in comparison to principal leadership factors and demographic factors. Data was gathered from the CDE website on school size and socio-economic status as defined by use of free and reduced-cost lunches. It had been proposed to compare school locations, but there was not enough response to do that well.

Colorado Measures of Academic Success Tests

In order to insure content validity, the CDE met with educational experts to determine common content for CMAS. Items were tightly aligned with the Colorado Model Content Standards. Irrelevant constructs were minimized and under-represented constructs were developed and reviewed in order to insure that content was equitably represented.

Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs

The independent variables were comprised of leadership factors as identified by results from adaptations of the Principal Leadership Questionnaire (PLQ) developed by Jantzi and Leithwood (1996), a factor of transactional leadership, plus leadership factors

as identified from adaptations of the Audit of Principal Effectiveness (APE) developed by Valentine and Bowman (1989). The PLQ factors included beneficial modeling, inspirational motivation, systems thinking, individualized consideration, and shared leadership. The APE factors included management and instructional leadership. Each of the leadership factors were tested with 2016 CMAS achievement scores on math.

Part of the adaptation of the Principal Leadership Questionnaire by Jantzi and Leithwood (1996) was the addition of items from the Audit of Principal Effectiveness by Valentine and Bowman (1989). I contacted Drs. Leithwood and Valentine, receiving permission from each of them to use their surveys on this project. Copies of these approval letters are included in Appendix B.

Principal Leadership Questionnaire Instrument

Most of the questionnaire to be used in this study was developed by Jantzi and Leithwood (1996). Leithwood has led the way in adapting transformational leadership ideas to education (Valentine & Prater, 2011). Jantzi and Leithwood's (1996) use of the PLQ was primarily to explain teacher's perceptions of principal leadership. For the purpose of their study, Jantzi and Leithwood (1996) gave much attention to validity and reliability of the questionnaire. Particularly, Jantzi and Leithwood (1996) looked for factors that would influence teachers' perceptions of their principal's leadership abilities. **Operationalization**

Achievement (outcome variable). The achievement variable is here defined as the score given to middle schools by the CDE which calculates the percentage of students who score proficiently on the CMAS. Beginning in the spring of 2015, Colorado joined a dozen other states in administering the Partnership for Assessment of Readiness for College and Careers (PARCC). In Colorado the PARCC was part of CMAS. The PARCC test became controversial and a modified test was administered by the state in 2016. CMAS results were the focus of this study. The CDE achievement statistics were available to the public for the CMAS.

Growth (outcome variable). The CDE growth statistic was used as a secondary manifestation of the dependent variable in this study. The growth variable is the score given to middle schools by the CDE which calculates the change in scores from year to year of those students who score proficiently on the Colorado standardized testing. I used school growth scores for math in 2016. Researchers at CDE developed their growth statistic which is described as a Student Growth Percentile (SGP) Model (Castellano & Ho, 2013). The calculation of SGP involves the estimation of 99 regression lines that are used to predict the median growth for students in the next grade. Median growth is aggregated and reported for various groups, including middle schools. The growth statistics were available to the public for CMAS on the CDE website.

Beneficial modeling (independent predictive variable). The beneficial modeling term describes what some theorists call charisma and Bass called idealized influence. Followers identify with leaders and want to follow them. Beneficial modeling was measured by teacher responses to items from the Principal Leadership Questionnaire, such as: The principal has provided a good model for their faculty to follow. Jantzi and Leithwood (1996) reported that the Chronbach's alpha for their three modeling items was .86. The proposal originally called for dividing up the responses into three categories of high, medium, and low. These would have been categorical variables which would not

have been as useful as the raw continuous data that was used to calculate Pearson's correlation.

Inspirational motivation (independent predictive variable). The term inspirational motivation describes how transformational leaders motivate and inspire those around them by providing meaning and challenge to their followers' work (Bass, 1998). The leader insures that followers understand their importance to the organization and encourages them to reach their full potential. Inspirational motivation was measured by responses to items from the PLQ such as: The principal has given the faculty a sense of overall purpose for its leadership role. Jantzi and Leithwood (1996) reported a Chronbach's alpha of .88 for their inspirational motivation items.

Systems thinking (independent predictor variable). Senge's (1994) concept of systems thinking and the development of a learning organization describe what Bass (1998) and Leithwood (1996) termed as intellectual stimulation. Followers are led to be innovative by questioning assumptions, reframing problems, and trying new approaches as they see their part in the whole organization. Followers are not criticized for simply having different ideas than their leader. Systems thinking was to be measured by teacher evaluations of the following items.

Items from the PLQ included:

- 1. The principal has provided information that helps me think of ways to implement the school's program.
- 2. The principal has challenged me to reexamine some basic assumptions I have about my work in the school.

- The principal has provided for extended training to develop my knowledge and skills relevant to being a member of the school faculty.
 An item from the literature is:
- The principal has encouraged me to be creative by not criticizing my ideas simply because they are different.

Jantzi and Leithwood (1996) reported a Chronbach's alpha of .77 for their items.

Individualized consideration (independent predictor variable). Individualized consideration is defined here as paying special attention to each individual follower's need for achievement and growth by acting as a coach or mentor who offers time and support to individuals to achieve their personal goals, especially those that may have been neglected in the past. Individualized consideration was measured by teacher responses to items on the PLQ, such as: The principal has personally helped me to develop my strengths. Jantzi and Leithwood (1996) reported a Chronbach's alpha of .82 for their individualized consideration items.

Shared leadership (independent predictor variable). Shared leadership is defined here as promoting cooperation in fostering the acceptance of group goals. Shared leadership was measured by items from the PLQ such as: The principal has worked toward whole faculty consensus in establishing priorities. Jantzi and Leithwood (1996) reported a Chronbach's alpha of .80 for shared leadership items.

Managerial leadership (independent predictor variable). Managerial leadership is here defined as organizing the day-by-day operation of the school to provide an orderly environment in a well-equipped school. Managerial leadership was measured

through responses to survey items from the Audit of Principal Effectiveness (APE) developed by Valentine and Bowman (1989).

Survey items from the APE selected for this survey include:

- 1. The principal has implemented federal, state, and district policies including systematic procedures for staff appraisal.
- 2. The principal has managed the day-by-day operation of the school to provide an orderly environment in a well-equipped school.
- 3. The principal has the ability to organize activities, tasks, and people.

Valentine and Bowman (1989) reported a Chronbach's alpha of .86. However, I reduced 64 items down to 3 so that alpha number is rather meaningless. I cut the number of items because many of them were redundant with Jantzi and Leithwood and others were not directly relevant to this particular study.

Transactional leadership (independent predictive variable). Transactional leadership is here defined as the initiative to make contact with others for the purpose of exchanging valued items: subsidies for campaign contributions, salaries for teaching, grades for school work (Burns, 1978). The concept of transactional leadership meshes well with the scientific behaviorism advocated by Skinner (1971). Behavior is shaped and maintained by its consequences to the extent that environmental contingencies explain away the concept that man is autonomous (Skinner, 1971).

Based on Burns' (1978) description of transactional leadership and Skinner's (1971) description of contingency-based behavior, I developed three items that demonstrate a progressively more intense use of transactional leadership:

1. The principal has praised people for exhibiting desired behavior.

2. The principal has provided incentives for meeting objectives.

3. The principal has withheld privileges for non-compliant behavior.

There is face validity in the items; they correspond to the concept of transactional leadership.

High expectations (independent predictive variable). High expectations are here defined as anticipating significant results. Items from the Principal Leadership Questionnaire selected to indicate high expectations include:

- The principal has shown us that there are high expectations for the school's faculty as professionals.
- 2. The principal has not settled for second best in our performance of our work as the school's faculty.

Jantzi and Leithwood (1996) reported a Chronbach's alpha of .73 on high expectation items.

Instructional leadership (independent predictive variable). Instructional

leadership is here defined as including knowledge of effective schooling, commitment to quality instruction, coordination of curriculum, close supervision of classroom instruction, coordination of the school's curriculum, and close monitoring of student progress (Hallinger & Murphy, 1986; Prater, 2004). The items from the APE were reduced from eight to three so that items in this category would not overlap with items in other categories.

- 1. The principal has knowledge of the general goals of all the curricular areas.
- 2. The principal has instructional observation skills that provide the basis for accurate assessment of the teaching process in the classroom.

3. The principal has the ability to provide suggestions for improvement when criticizing poor practices.

Valentine and Bowman (1989) reported a Chronbach's alpha of .85 on instructional improvement items.

Socioeconomic status (covariate predictive variable). The operational definition of socio-economic status (SES) for this study is the percentage of students who receive free and reduced lunches as reported on the CDE website for the 2016 school year.

School size (covariate predictive variable). The CDE provides the number of students in each school.

School location (covariate predictive variable). If I had had acquired a large response, analysis of the responses in different areas could have added some confirmation or disconfirmation of external validity. With the small response a comparison of areas was not made.

Principal education (covariate predictive variable). The short principal survey asked for the principal's level of education as Bachelor's degree, Master's degree, or Doctorate.

Principal gender (covariate predictive variable). Principals were asked to identify their gender as male or female.

Principal experience (covariate predictive variable). Principals were asked for the number of years of experience. I originally proposed to divide the years into categories, but it was better to evaluate correlation by leaving the years as continuous data. **Parental involvement (covariate predictive variable).** Principals were asked, "What percentage of parents are involved in their children's education in your school?"

Community involvement (covariate predictive variable). Principals were asked, "What percentage of your students are involved in community activities such as Boys and Girls clubs, 4-H, and after school programs?"

Simple Demographic Survey

Principals were asked to fill out and return a simple demographic survey that included the covariate predictive variables of principal education, principal experience, principal gender, parental involvement and community involvement. The first three are straightforward and should have construct validity. The last two are not as straightforward and did not have as much validity, but not much weight was intended to be put on them in the overall scheme of the project. One open ended question was included with the survey concerning what they would like to communicate to legislators. Several of the principals advocated for more resources.

Data Analysis Plan

Data was entered into SPSS. I used the general linear model of outcome_i = (model) + error_i. Field (2013) suggested looking at data graphically before running other analyses. Four procedures that I used early in the analysis were: (1) develop scatterplots, (2) clean data, (3) run significance tests, and (4) examine residuals for homoscedasticity and independence.

I looked for outliers that would bias the results. As I examined scatterplots of the data, I looked at outliers and made minor adjustments.

While looking for outliers on scatterplots I also checked to see if the variables were normally distributed. A researcher can use logarithms, square roots, or inverses of the variable to give them a more normal distribution. However, using those methods would decrease the power of the study, so I was happy I did not have to use them. One of the reasons I was working toward a large sample was to assure normality. Fortunately, the dependent variable had a normal distribution despite its small size.

The SurveyMonkey means of each survey item were reported to the hundredth so that each of the 32 items could be analyzed using SPSS for determining their significance and Pearson correlation. In SPSS, the b coefficients in regression are automatically calculated with associated t tests, so significance and strength of correlation can be seen in the same output. In Chapter 4, I reported the Pearson's Product-Moment Coefficient of Correlation (r) and the significance of means of the items that composed each principal leadership characteristic. A backup plan was to use Kendall's Tau if the data was not parametric. However, the data was parametric so I just used Pearson's correlation statistic.

Research Question and Hypotheses

 To what extent, if any, are there correlations between nine principal leadership variables and the results on participating middle schools' Colorado Measures of Academic success math scores from 2016? The nine principal leadership variables include the five transformational leadership variables of beneficial modeling, inspirational motivation, systems thinking, individualized consideration, shared leadership and the four non-transformational leadership variables of managerial leadership, instructional leadership, transactional leadership, and high expectations. The study evaluated the following hypotheses:

 H_01 : High expectations will be more highly correlated with CMAS scores than any other leadership factor including managerial leadership, instructional leadership, transactional leadership, attractive modeling, inspirational motivation, systems thinking, individualized consideration, and shared leadership.

 H_A1 : At least one other leadership variable including managerial leadership, instructional leadership, transactional leadership, attractive modeling, inspirational motivation, systems thinking, individualized consideration, and shared leadership will be more highly correlated with CMAS scores than high expectations.

 H_02 : Regression analysis will not correlate transformational leadership characteristics as together influencing CMAS scores.

 $H_A 2$: Regression analysis will correlate transformational leadership characteristics as together influencing CMAS scores.

 H_03 : High expectations will be highly correlated with CMAS scores regardless of the relative presence or absence of individualized consideration.

 H_A 3: High expectations will be more negatively correlated with CMAS scores when individualized consideration is lowest and more positively correlated with CMAS scores when individualized consideration is highest.

 H_04 : As the covariates of student socio-economic status, school size, school location, principal education, principal experience, principal gender, parental involvement, and community involvement are introduced into SPSS calculations, independent variables will no longer continue to be correlated with CMAS, while high expectations will continue to show the highest correlation with CMAS.

 H_A4 : As the covariates of student socio-economic status, school size, school location, principal education, principal experience, principal gender, parental involvement, and community involvement are introduced into SPSS calculations, independent variables will continue to show correlation with CMAS scores, with at least one other leadership factor showing a greater correlation than high expectations.

 H_05 : The statewide correlations of independent variables and covariates will not help to explain the three-year trends of CMAS scores of 12 randomly selected schools for the study.

 H_A 5: The statewide correlations of independent variables and covariates will help to explain the three-year trends of CMAS scores of 12 randomly selected schools for the study.

Statistical Tests

The Colorado Department of Education (CDE) reports CMAS results in percentages. This interval data allows data to be more finely analyzed. There is some question as to whether results from a questionnaire scale can be considered as interval data. SurveyMonkey reported the means carried out two places so that it was available in three digits. Data generally varied enough to make precise comparisons possible. Klinginsmith (2007) and Prater (2004) used Pearson product-moment correlation testing. I was unable to find a description by Klinginsmith (2007) or Prater (2004) on how well their data met the assumptions in order to legitimately use the Pearson product-moment analysis. The types of statistical analysis tests that can be properly used for data analysis depend on the number and nature of the variables. I used statistical tests that accommodated multiple predictor variables.

Interpretation of Results

The statistical significance was calculated along with strength of correlation so that I did not need to do separate t-tests in SPSS. I simply needed to make note of the significance statistic in order to initially determine if it was possible to reach any conclusions on whether or not to reject the null hypothesis. Any statistically significant results were further observed to see if those correlational strengths match any of the hypotheses. The acceptance or rejection of hypotheses was at the heart of the proposed study. Null hypotheses that were rejected and alternative hypotheses formed the basis for data analysis.

Threats to Validity

Aristotle said that an argument cannot be proven or disproven. It can only be shown to be valid or not valid, or in post-modern thinking, more likely valid or more likely not valid. The nature of this research project would provide evidence that is relatively strong in external validity while being weak in internal validity.

Threats to the External Validity of the Dependent Variable

Every proctor of CMAS was required to follow a strict protocol that assured that students throughout the state were exposed to the same test conditions. Exposure to similar tests may help students to make minor improvement from one year to the next, but a far greater difference in test results will be from mastery or lack of mastery of skills that are of increasing difficulty in later grades.

Threats to the External Validity of the Independent Variables

The nature of a survey presents challenges to validity. Some validity comes from the development of the survey instrument using qualitative methods which inherently have more internal validity than quantitative methods. The developers of most of the survey items in this project spent many years putting together their questionnaires. Jantzi and Leithwood (2005) who developed most of the survey items for this study conducted a large international qualitative study to increase the validity of their questionnaire concepts. The studies in Missouri could add external validity to results from this study.

Threats to Internal and Construct Validity of the Dependent Variable

The CDE received much input from state educators to make CMAS more realistic in evaluating student achievement. CMAS is aligned closely with the state's content standards that educators are required to use as a basis for their lessons.

Internal Validity of the Independent Variables

Valentine and Prater (2011) reported consistent results from teachers on their respective principals. Survey validity was reported earlier with each predictive variable.

Validity of the Covariates

For the most part, the covariates are simple demographic data so there should be minimal threats to their validity.

Ethical Procedures

No information was gathered from individual children so there was no risk to them, yet to the extent principals gain information to help them improve schools, children will benefit. School districts were sent letters in order to gain permission to gather survey information from their middle school principals and teachers. Principal contact information is public and so are school results on the CMAS. However, I have been keeping individual principal and school information confidential. Since principals are offering the opportunity for teachers to anonymously respond to a SurveyMonkey questionnaire their privacy was assured. After all the data is gathered, even public information identifying the individual school and principal will be deleted or continue to be kept confidential for official reviewers. Data will be handled in my home office which is secure.

Agreements

Data to be used to indicate school achievement was obtained from a public website. Therefore, no agreement had to be made with the CDE to use that data. I contacted researchers at the CDE, so they know my plans and they have advised me concerning the need for their IRB to review my project. In a phone conversation on July 14, 2014, the CDE director in charge of data said that I should not go through a CDE IRB process unless I wanted to access individual student data and that CDE IRB approval of access to individual student data would be unlikely. I did not need nor desire individual scores for my project. Colorado is a local control state. As soon as I had Walden IRB approval I contacted individual school districts for permission to gather information from their middle school principals and teachers. A letter was sent to school district superintendents asking for their support. A draft letter and letter of cooperation are in Appendix C.

Data collected from principals is kept confidential by assigning an ID # to the principal and school that does not mean anything to anyone but myself. I asked principals to forward a SurveyMonkey link to their teachers. Individual responses to the survey

were kept track of by SurveyMonkey so that the identity of the teacher respondents remained unknown to me; only the school was known to me. I will share general results from the study with principals, but they will not know how their teachers responded either individually or collectively.

I obtained Walden IRB approval number 02-02-17-0169831 before collecting data from principals. I gave written explanation to principals concerning how the information I would receive from them would be used and how that information would be kept confidential. I also explained to them how survey information from teachers will be protected. Participation in my project by principals and teachers was strictly voluntary. I had planned to ask SurveyMonkey to build in an implied consent feature into the teacher survey, but instead principals forwarded the consent information along with the access code to SurveyMonkey.

Data collection from principals and teachers occurred over the space of a few weeks. They either participated or not so withdrawal was not thought to be a problem. However, some principals who were initially interested did not want to disturb their teachers. Reminders were made by phone and email to principals to increase the response rate.

I am the only one who has complete access to all the data, except as required by Walden officials checking on the accuracy of my work. I will be careful not to share confidential information that is not absolutely necessary for them to have. Data was quickly put into databases that could be shared with my committee and others without divulging confidential information. Data will be kept on a password protected computer in my home office which is secure. I do not stand to directly gain financially by the results of one hypothesis over another. I had an informed opinion of what the results might be. To the extent that results differed from what I anticipated I was simply better informed and better able to contribute to future knowledge in the field of principal leadership.

Summary

Researchers have identified at least 18 factors that could influence a student's performance on standardized achievement tests in addition to the student's desire and ability. Because of increased political pressure on principals, nine factors that are mostly under the principal's control are of particular interest. The large amount of data available and computer software have made the analysis of complex multifactor models possible. The model that was studied to begin with defined transformational leadership by five characteristics, which were compared individually and as a group with other principal leadership factors, principal demographics and school demographics. I hoped that the analysis of so many factors in one study would aid principals in prioritizing the things they can do to improve student academic performance.

Student achievement data and most of the demographic data was gathered from the CDE website. Some demographic data was collected from principals. I asked principals to forward a SurveyMonkey link to their teachers in order for them to answer the 34 item PLQ that was used to rate their respective principals on nine leadership characteristics. I entered the student achievement data and the demographic data from the CDE website, along with the results from the principal demographic survey and the PLQ, into SPSS. I used SPSS descriptive statistical analysis to test whether or not the assumptions of linearity and normality were met so that the use of parametric or nonparametric analyses would be appropriate. The statistical analyses were used to evaluate each of my five hypotheses, and the results are reported in Chapter 4.
Chapter 4: Results

Introduction

Chapter 4 includes a discussion of the collection of data, including the timeframe and discrepancies between the proposed plan and what I did. I report the demographic characteristics of the sample in terms of how well it represented the population. Then, I report the results, beginning with descriptive statistics that show statistical assumptions were met so that some hypotheses could be tested using SPSS to find Pearson's correlation statistic. I have organized findings by hypotheses, which I evaluated to answer the research question.

The purpose of this quantitative study was to compare the degree of correlation among leadership behaviors and results on Colorado standardized tests. More specifically, my objective in this statewide study was to test the thesis that there are other principal leadership factors that are more predictive of student achievement than high expectations.

I developed the following research question to guide the study: To what extent, if any, is there a correlation between nine principal leadership variables and results on the participating middle schools' CMAS scores from 2016? CMAS was administered in all Colorado public schools to students in Grades 3–8. I used eighth grade math scores as reported on the CDE website to answer the research question.

I developed five hypotheses to guide the examination of data concerning the correlation of principal leadership and student achievement.

 $H_A l$: At least one other leadership variable including managerial leadership, instructional leadership, transactional leadership, beneficial modeling, inspirational

motivation, systems thinking, individualized consideration, and shared leadership will be more highly correlated with CMAS scores than high expectations.

 $H_A 2$: Transformational leadership characteristics will together influence CMAS scores.

 H_A3 : High expectations will be more negatively correlated with CMAS scores when individualized consideration is lowest and more positively correlated with CMAS scores when individualized consideration is highest.

 H_A4 : As the covariates of student socio-economic status, school size, school location, principal education, principal experience, principal gender, parental involvement, and community involvement are introduced into SPSS calculations, independent variables will continue to show correlation with CMAS scores, with at least one other leadership factor showing a greater correlation than high expectations.

 H_A 5: The statewide correlations of independent variables and covariates will help to explain the three-year trends of 12 randomly selected schools for the study. Corresponding null hypotheses were also constructed.

Data Collection

On February 12, 2017, I received conditional approval from the Walden IRB to proceed with the study. On February 15, I mailed invitations to the 178 Colorado school district superintendents requesting that they participate in the study. Eight districts agreed to participate in the study, and the IRB gave final approval for the project. The eight districts included 32 middle schools. I sent surveys and consent forms to those 32 principals. I followed up with emails, phone calls, and more emails. Six principals filled out surveys and gave their teachers consent forms and a link to SurveyMonkey. Other principals said they were willing to participate but did not want to bother their teachers. Since other studies in my literature review used self-reporting, I proposed that those principals fill out the teacher form and three did so. That increased the sample size to nine schools. However, in order to protect student confidentiality, the CDE does not openly publish the CMAS results of class sizes less than 16 students. One of the nine schools had less than 16 students in the eighth grade, so CMAS data was not available for that school. That left data available from a total of eight middle schools for the study. SurveyMonkey responses for those schools began April 5 and ended May 17. The response rate of superintendents was 4.5%. The response rate of principals in the approval districts was 25%. The use of three Principal Leadership Questionnaires by selfreporting was the only discrepancy between the outline of procedures in Chapter 3 and what actually took place.

Characteristics of the Sample

The most important characteristic of the sample was that four schools were above the state average on the 2016 math CMAS, and four schools were below the state average for the 2016 math CMAS. The participating middle schools are located throughout Colorado. There are two from Southwestern Colorado, one from Northwestern Colorado, one from Eastern Colorado, one from the Colorado Springs area, one from the Denver area, and two from the Northern Front Range. The schools ranged in size from 129 students to 953 students. Smaller schools are not represented because the CMAS results are not public. The amount of free and reduced lunches ranged from 34.9% to 80.9%. More of the demographics will be discussed under the heading of covariates. Taking into consideration the small size of the sample, it was remarkably representative of the state.

Covariates

The proposal was to look at eight demographic factors that might have an impact on the correlation of principal characteristics with CMAS results. None of the eight factors were found to have a statistically significant correlation at the .05 level for this sample. However, some of the demographic factors did help to describe how representative the principal sample was to the middle school principal population in Colorado. The sample was too small to facilitate comparisons between areas of the state, but looking at the wide dispersion of sample schools as described in the last section helps to make a case that the sample was representative of the population.

Half of the 32 middle school principals who I contacted were male and half were female. The sample had 3 females and 5 males. Of the females, one led a school with CMAS scores that were above average and increasing, one led a school with scores that were below average and slightly decreasing, and one led a school that was below average and decreasing. Of the male principals two led schools with above average scores and increasing, one led a school with a little above average and slightly decreasing scores, and two led schools with below average and decreasing scores. Gender was not a predictor of CMAS from this sample, and the sample was only slightly over-represented by males.

One of the participants had a doctorate and two more were about to complete theirs. Statewide only 5% of K-12 principals have doctorates, so they were overrepresented in this sample. Principals working on or having achieved doctorates are probably more sympathetic to degree candidates' needs to have participants to complete their research. The principal who had a doctorate had the second highest CMAS score. One of the candidates had an above average CMAS score and one had a lower than average score. There were not enough data points to try to make a meaningful correlation. The preceding data appear, on the face, to support doctoral completion as contributing somewhat to better CMAS results for some principals.

The range of principal experience was 4 to 19 years. The percentage of free and reduced lunches range was from 35% to 81%. The principals' estimation of parental involvement ranged from 25% to 80%. The principals' estimation of community involvement ranged from 30% to 90%. The wide range and normal distribution of covariates helped to verify the representative nature of the sample, while the less than .05 significance was a reason to leave them out of the formation of a model.

Results

The following research question guided the study: To what extent, if any, is there a correlation between nine principal leadership variables and the results on the participating middle schools' CMAS 2016 math scores? The first step in answering the research question was to compare covariates to leadership as a whole, which I have represented in Table 1. Because of the small sample, the only covariates that were conducive to multiple regression analysis were percentage of free and reduced lunches and number of students. In order to assess the prediction of CMAS by demographics and leadership characteristics, I conducted multiple regression on three models.

Table 1

Variable	Pearson Correlation	B coefficient	Beta
Free & reduced lunches	.681	046	062
Number of Students	005	.016	.460
Leadership Index	.933	17.153	1.074

Correlation of Covariates and Leadership Index with CMAS

Note. Leadership Index is a mean of six leadership characteristics. Data for the Leadership Index were from principal surveys. Data on free/reduced cost lunches and the number of students per respective school were from the Colorado Department of Education website. The CMAS test was for Colorado eighth grade math in 2016.

The results of the multiple linear regression analysis on the first model of percentage of free and reduced lunches revealed no statistical significance (p > .05). When I added number of students in the second model, results continued to reveal no significance. In the third model, when I added a leadership index, a statistically significant association was found for the three independent variables. The adjusted *R*-squared value of .837 suggests that the third model explained 83.7% of the variation in CMAS scores, F(3,7) = 12.94, p = .016. Accounting for the two demographic variables, the regression coefficient [B = 17.2, 95% CI (7.9, 26.4), p < .05] associated with the Leadership Index indicated that for every point of increase in the Leadership Index, the CMAS score is increased by approximately 17.2 points. The Leadership Index was developed through the analyses of the hypotheses discussed in this chapter. It was included here to provide a covariate context for the leadership characteristics. The leadership characteristics index was a better predictor of CMAS than the percentage of free and reduced lunches or school size, indicating the high importance of leadership in

education. Since 2010, federal and state governments have placed an emphasis on improving principal effectiveness as a means to improve academic achievement (ED, 2010; Dolan, 2013). It appears the concentration on principals is justified.

To further answer the research question, I analyzed data to evaluate each of the five hypotheses. In what follows, I first discuss the characteristics of the variables that determined which statistical analyses could be used. The focus of this study was on variables that might define transformational leadership. These independent variables were continuous data which facilitated evaluations for correlation. The dependent variable of 2016 CMAS eighth grade math scores was also continuous. Figure 3 and Table 2 show the linearity and normalcy of the dependent variable so that parametric statistical analyses, such as the Pearson correlation and multiple regression were appropriate. A normal distribution is defined as looking the same on both ends (Field, 2013). Although the distribution of the CMAS scores did not have the pronounced bulge in the middle that often signifies a normal distribution, the distribution looked the same on both ends so the distribution met the assumption of normalcy.

The CMAS raw data was reported in three digits, and SurveyMonkey reported means of the principal characteristics carried out to the hundredth, allowing for three digits on the x-axis and three on the y-axis, which made for a nice-looking graph. Two of the principals' self-evaluations were outliers that appeared to be inflated, and one teacher's evaluation was a smaller outlier that appeared to result from an overly harsh assessment. One point was subtracted from each of the two principal evaluations and .25 was added to the one teachers' evaluation. Those adjusted figures were used throughout the study.



Figure 3. SPSS plot of the dependent variable.

Table 2

	Ν	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std.
					Deviation
8th grade math scores 2016	8	704.00	735.00	720.0000	10.52887
Valid N (listwise)	8				

Descriptive Statistics of the Dependent Variable

Analysis to Evaluate the First Hypothesis

The first hypothesis concerned the relative correlation of high expectations versus other principal leadership characteristics, the null hypothesis stating that high expectations would have the strongest correlation. H_01 : High expectations will be more highly correlated with CMAS scores than any other leadership factor including managerial leadership, instructional leadership, transactional leadership, beneficial modeling, inspirational motivation, systems thinking, individualized consideration, and shared leadership. H_A1 : At least one other leadership variable including managerial leadership, instructional leadership, transactional leadership, beneficial modeling, inspirational motivation, systems thinking, individualized consideration, and shared leadership, instructional leadership, transactional leadership, beneficial modeling, inspirational motivation, systems thinking, individualized consideration, and shared leadership will be more highly correlated with CMAS scores than high expectations.

Using SPSS, the significance (p) and Pearson correlation statistic (r) was calculated for each principal characteristic and the 2016 CMAS math score. Of the nine characteristics, five had higher significance and correlations and three characteristics had lower significance and correlations than high expectations.

Table 3

	Pearson		
Principal characteristics	correlation	VIF	Beta
	Transformational		
Beneficial modeling	.792*	6.5	.951*
Individualized consideration	.790*	18.562	
Systems thinking	.775*	19.852	
Inspirational motivation	.711*	3.076	.601*
Shared leadership	.340	3.234	424*
	Non-		
	Transformational		
High expectations	.680	50.766	
Transactional leadership	.602	3.278	265
Instructional leadership	.483	10.864	
Managerial leadership	.816*	31.693	
* <i>p</i> < .05			

Correlation of Leadership Characteristics with 2016 Eighth Grade CMAS Math Scores

Having several high correlations was a clue that there was multicollinearity. Evaluating solely on the basis of bivariate differences would be dangerous. Along with multiple regression I used SPSS to test for multicollinearity with the five transformational leadership variables and a second test with the four non-transformational leadership characteristics. The Variance Inflation Factor (VIF) scores for the two tests are reported in Table 3. Since VIF scores greater than ten are considered a cause for concern, I did another multiple regression with the four factors that were less than ten. The four had an Adjusted R Square of .712. The Beta scores for the four are reported in Table 3.

The results of the multiple linear regression analysis revealed a statistically significant association between a model of beneficial modeling and CMAS scores. The regression coefficient [B = 12.4, 95% CI (7, 21.98) p = .019] suggests that with each

additional unit of beneficial modeling CMAS scores are increased by 12.4. The Adjusted R^2 value of .566 suggests that by itself beneficial modeling accounts for 56.6% of the variation in CMAS scores. When inspirational leadership and shared leadership were added to beneficial modeling the Adjusted R^2 for the model was .754 meaning that the three independent variables accounted for 75.4% of the variation in CMAS scores.

Since beneficial modeling by itself can account for over half of the variation in CMAS scores and three variables can account for three-fourths of the variation, high expectations cannot account for the most variation in CMAS scores. The analysis of data from this sample indicates that the first null hypothesis can be rejected and the alternative hypothesis accepted. High expectations did not have the highest significance and correlation with CMAS when undergoing either simple correlation or multiple regression. When analyzing bivariate correlations, high expectations was never higher than third and was often as low as sixth out of nine. In contrast to the high number of statistically significant correlations using bivariate correlation analysis, the multiple regression analyses had few statistically significant results, indicating the collinearity problem. Nevertheless, the results of this analysis indicate that high expectations is not the highest predictor of CMAS variation. However, its exact location in comparison to other variables was not determined. It is probably between the third and the sixth of the nine leadership variables analyzed.

Analysis to Evaluate the Second Hypothesis

The second null hypothesis states that regression will not correlate transformational leadership characteristics as together influencing CMAS scores. The alternative hypothesis states that regression will correlate transformational leadership characteristics as together influencing CMAS scores. To analyze the second hypothesis I used multiple regression to analyze an index of six likely components of transformational leadership based on analysis of the top leadership correlations reported in Table 3. The results of a regression analysis of the leadership index by itself revealed an R² value of .736 suggesting that 73.6% of the variation in CMAS scores. The regression coefficient [B = 13.7, 95% CI (5.5, 21.9) p = .006] suggests that for each additional unit of leadership index increase CMAS scores are increased by 13.7. The Beta was .858 (p < .01) indicating a high correlation between the leadership index and CMAS scores. Based on this analysis the null hypothesis is rejected for the second hypothesis. A regression analysis suggests that transformational leadership characteristics do influence CMAS scores.

Analysis to Evaluate the Third Hypothesis

The third null hypothesis stated that high expectations would be highly correlated with CMAS regardless of the relative presence or absence of individualized consideration. The third alternative hypothesis stated that high expectations would be more negatively correlated with CMAS scores when individualized consideration is lowest and more positively correlated with CMAS when individualized consideration was highest. In order to evaluate the third hypothesis, I constructed Table 4 that includes the principals' confidential identification numbers, the raw 2016 CMAS math scores, the principals' high expectations (HE) rating, and the principals' individualized consideration (IC) rating in the IC order.

The two highest CMAS scores were for principals who had the highest expectations, as many would expect. The highest two CMAS scores also were for the highest IC, which I would expect from the literature review. The next to the lowest CMAS score was for Principal 120 who had the lowest HE and the lowest IC, again as expected. However, the lowest CMAS score was for Principal 132 who had a relatively high HE rating and low IC rating. And Principal 116 had a high CMAS score despite having a relatively low HE rating. She had a high IC rating, so in her case and for Principal 132 individualized consideration was a better predictor of CMAS than high expectations.

Table 4

135

125

132

120

Principal ID#	CMAS	High expectations	Individualized consideration
113	735	6.00	5.25
134	731	5.33	5.20
116	722	4.33	5.20
115	721	5.05	5.00

_	Y •	c	TT · 1			1	T :	1		1· 1	-	7 · ì		
	ownavicou	<u>nt</u>	$H_{1}\alpha\mu$	H 1	montations	and	Inn	11/10	11/11	1700	•	OUCIO	ovati	าท
Ľ	ombarison	\boldsymbol{U}	111211			unu	Ina	i v i u	uui	1200	· ·	onsia	erun	ווע
		/												

Note. Adapted from Principal Leadership Questionnaire and Colo. Dept. of Education

716

723

704

708

The top four IC coincide with the top HE except for one, 116 which has a lower HE. The lower four IC coincide with the lower HE except for 132 which has a higher HE. Therefore, H_03 can be rejected because in six instances IC predicts HE and in the other two instances IC predicts CMAS better than HE. The data analysis suggests that high

4.67

4.04

4.67

3.6

4.40

3.85

3.80

3.66

expectations are more negatively correlated with CMAS scores when individualized consideration is lowest and more positively correlated with CMAS when individualized consideration is highest. HE and IC are more correlated in this sample than I expected with r = .734 (p < .05). The combination of high expectations and low individualized consideration correlates with the lowest CMAS score and reveals a concern about having high expectations without also having high individualized consideration.

Analysis to Evaluate the Fourth Hypothesis

Hypothesis Four had to do with the influence of covariates on the variables, particularly high expectations. H_04 : As the covariates of student socio-economic status, school size, school location, principal education, principal experience, principal gender, parental involvement, and community involvement are introduced into SPSS calculations, independent variables will no longer continue to be correlated with CMAS, while high expectations will continue to show the highest correlation with CMAS. H_44 : As the covariates of student socio-economic status, school size, school location, principal education, principal experience, principal gender, parental involvement, and community involvement are introduced into SPSS calculations, independent variables will continue to show correlation with CMAS scores, with at least one other leadership factor showing a greater correlation than high expectations.

As was reported previously, multiple regression analyses of the continuous covariates showed no significance at the .05 level. As each covariate was run with a set of principal characteristics that included high expectations, no significant differences were found. The null hypothesis can be rejected because there were no significant findings that improved the correlation of high expectations and CMAS. Even if the statistical significance would be set aside, high expectations never had the highest r, B, or Beta.

As the covariates of socio-economic status, school size, principal experience, parental involvement, and community involvement were introduced into the calculations, results were not significant. The data on the proposed covariates of school location, principal gender, and principal education were not conducive to the variable analysis.

Analysis to Evaluate the Fifth Hypothesis

 H_05 : The statewide correlations of independent variables and covariates will not help to explain the three-year trends of CMAS scores of 12 randomly selected schools for the study. H_A5 : The statewide correlations of independent variables and covariates will help to explain the three-year trends of 12 randomly selected schools for the study.

I was unable to evaluate the fifth hypothesis of validating a model because of a lack of enough information due to the small sample size. If 70 middle school principals had participated, then I could have randomly selected the 12 called for in the hypothesis. In the spirit of checking the model, I used the CDE growth statistics of each participating school. From the results in evaluating the first four hypotheses I propose a new model (definition of transformational leadership) based on six characteristics. I took the means of those six characteristics for each principal and ranked them in Table 5. Alongside the model ranking the eight sample schools, I included a column for the 2016 eighth grade math scores and a column for the CDE math growth statistic for each whole school.

Although the ranking of the model and the growth statistic did not precisely match, the highest four on the model corresponded with the schools that had growth scores above 50. Likewise, the four lowest ranked from the model corresponded to the schools that had growth scores below 50. One school ranked in the top half by the model had a lower raw math score and one in the bottom half of the model had a higher raw math score. That is particularly interesting because the model was developed from the CMAS raw math scores for eighth graders and yet the model broadly better predicted school growth.

Table 5

Principal ID#	CMAS Raw scores	Model of 6 Characteristics	CDE Math Growth Statistic
			Above 50%
113	735	5.36	51
134	731	4.99	68
115	721	4.72	51.5
116	722	4.67	68
			Below 50%
135	716	4.19	41
125	723	3.93	48
132	704	3.9	46.5
120	708	3.36	40

CMAS Scores and Principals Ranked by Model

Note. Source: Principal Leadership Questionnaire and Colo. Dept. of Education

The statistical correlation was higher for the model and CMAS at r = .858 (p = .006) while the correlation for the model and growth was r = .640 (p = .087). In this sample, it is suggested that a model index ranking above 4.4 predicts a growth score above 50% and a model index rating below 4.4 predicts a growth score below 50%. Since the model predicted the growth statistic, the analysis is a check on validity that was intended for Hypothesis Five, but does not allow for the acceptance or rejection of the null hypothesis.

Survey Item Correlations with CMAS

When I wrote the proposal I only anticipated that I would be able to evaluate the summative principal characteristics. As I worked with SPSS in analyzing data I realized that I could also analyze each of the 32 items. The most significant of the three items that made up the beneficial modeling characteristic was Survey Item 7: "The principal has provided good models for faculty to follow" (p = .003, r = .887). Since high expectations is of interest I included that item along with two others, one from the transformational list and one from the non-transformational list. The ANOVA significance for the fourvariable multiple regression analysis as a whole was .031. The Adjusted R² is surprisingly high for four items at .873 with the Durbin-Watson at 2.047 (The closer to 2 generally the better for the Durbin-Watson). The multicollinearity discussed with summative characteristics could also apply to the individual survey items. Another possibility to consider is that individual survey items could be matched with multiple principal characteristics. For example, in a bivariate regression analysis Survey Item 16: "The principal has provided the necessary resources to support my implementation of the school's program" had an adjusted R² of .736, a B coefficient of 7.644, and a Beta of .879 significant at p < .01. Item 16 was placed in the category of individualized consideration in this study, but it could also fit under managerial leadership, or inspirational motivation, because motivation is something everyone needs. Providing necessary resources will be discussed more in Chapter 5.

Summary Answers to the Research Question

The research question was to what extent, if any, are there correlations between nine principal leadership variables and results on participating Colorado Measures of Academic Success 2016 eighth grade math scores. One of the most important results from the evaluation of the hypotheses to answer the general research question was that high expectations were never the dominant factor in significance or correlation with CMAS. Four transformational leadership factors were found to be significant at the .05 level. The proposed inclusion of shared leadership as a transformational leadership characteristic was called into question because of its negative correlation with Bass's four transformational leadership characteristics and its low correlation with CMAS math scores. This will be discussed further in Chapter 5 in pursuit of a definition of effective transformational leadership. managerial leadership items will be included in that discussion because of their high significance and correlation with CMAS.

Chapter 5: Interpretation of the Results

Purpose and Nature of the Study

The purpose of this study was to advance knowledge about what principal leadership behaviors might contribute to student achievement. The ratings of participating middle school principals for leadership behavior were analyzed for correlation with CMAS scores. I conducted the analysis to find the relative correlations of the five possible transformational leadership variables including beneficial modeling, inspirational motivation, systems thinking, individualized consideration, and shared leadership and four non-transformational leadership variables including managerial leadership, instructional leadership, transactional leadership, and high expectations.

Key Findings

Upon correlational analysis, I found that four of the five transformational leadership characteristics correlated with CMAS scores at the .05 level: beneficial modeling, inspirational motivation, systems thinking, and individualized consideration. One of the four non-transformational leadership characteristics, managerial leadership, also correlated with CMAS scores at the .05 level. The one transformational leadership characteristic that I found to be negatively correlated with CMAS scores was shared leadership. The three non-transformational leadership characteristics that I found to be less than significant at the .05 level were instructional leadership, transactional leadership, and high expectations. As I analyzed 32 survey items I concluded that there is a scholarly need to enhance the meaning of transformational leadership.

Interpretation of the Findings

The findings of this study are facilitative of a discussion of the components of transformational leadership. Bass (1998) defined transformational leadership as having four characteristics. The first he called *charismatic leadership* or *idealized influence*. He described this characteristic as leaders behaving as role models. Because I also took into consideration the work of Bandura (1977) who pointed out the effectiveness of modeling on learning, I called this characteristic *beneficial modeling*. Two of Bass's labels that I did not change were *inspirational motivation* and *individualized consideration*. The other characteristic Bass labeled *intellectual stimulation*, which I changed to *systems thinking* in deference to Senge (1994). Jantzi and Leithwood (1996) developed survey items to match Bass's four transformational leadership characteristics. In my relabeling, I did not change Jantzi and Leithwood's survey items for these four characteristics. Each of Bass's characteristics of transformational leadership were individually significant with high correlations to the CMAS data used in this study, as reported in Table 3.

Using multiple regression analyses, I found that the first of Bass's characteristics, modeling, had a significant impact. This is consistent with the research of Valentine and Prater (2011) who found modeling to be the most consistently significant factor in principal leadership that was correlated with Missouri test scores. Bandura (1977) built his cognitive learning theory on the crucial nature of modeling to learning. One of Bandura's examples is physician training for surgery. Surgeons learn to perform surgery by observation and then by imitation. This study reinforces the importance of a principal modeling the behavior that is desired for faculty and students.

The other three of Bass' transformational leadership characteristics appear to have similar and high predictive powers for CMAS scores. If principals have one of these characteristics, they likely have the other two. The study results indicated that inspirational motivation, individualized consideration, and systems thinking overlap in some manner. Perhaps the concept of attunement (Pryce, 2012) that I discussed in Chapter 2 under individualized consideration also has implications for inspirational motivation and systems thinking. When I think of the concept of attunement, I think of Dr. Martin Luther King who was able to put in words what masses of people were thinking. He had to be aware of individual differences as well the American system in order to effectively inspire change. I have known principals who have had great influence in school-centered communities.

Other findings in this study raise the question of whether or not other characteristics should be included in a definition of transformational leadership. In my dissertation proposal, I included shared leadership as a transformational leadership characteristic. However, shared leadership had a negative relationship with CMAS scores (-.424 p = .035), so it might not be a transformational leadership characteristic. Perhaps there is a danger that principals trying to empower teachers by shared leadership may unintentionally appear to establish a false empowerment. Ciulla (2004) said that "bogus empowerment" where employees are given more responsibility without control is stressful. She said that authentic empowerment gives employees control over their work so that they can take responsibility for their effort (Ciulla, 2004). Based on Survey Item 16, perhaps empowerment for a teacher is having what is needed to teach. Part of that may be control of the classroom. An insistence on common goals, procedures, and rules may interfere with a teacher's ability to maintain classroom control. For example, if a school convention is called to handle the indiscretion of one student, the majority may decide that the solution is a school-wide rule that to some teachers may appear to be foolish and difficult to enforce.

That shared leadership rule then reduces the power that those teachers need to manage their classroom well. Item 30 was the statement "The principal has developed appropriate rules and procedures" (r = .774, p < .05). Rather than the leadership of a principal being a detriment to teacher empowerment, the wise principal may provide a shield for individual teachers from encroachment by the faculty. That does not mean there is no place for meetings and for principals to listen to faculty. What it may mean is that sharing should be done with the purpose of each teacher being able to adapt general common goals to their individual classrooms. Examples could be given of what may work well for some teachers, rather than have a drive for consensus where every teacher is required to do things the same way.

The only variable from the shared leadership category with a significance greater than .05 was Survey Item 8, at a significance of .046 and a correlation of .715. Item 8 was the statement, "The principal has gone beyond self-interest for the good of the group." Item 7 had a significance of .003 and correlation of .887. Item 7was the statement, "The principal has provided good models for faculty to follow." It is likely that as staff sees the principal go beyond self-interest for the good of the group, they will also be willing to work for the good of staff and students. Perhaps the good of the group is empowering staff members to do their job in a way that makes the best use of their time, talent, and energy.

Besides Item 8 about going beyond self-interest, the positive findings from Items 30 and 31 might be used to form a new definition of empowerment for educators and then add it to an expanded definition of transformational leadership. These items may help to identify a true empowerment where principals sacrifice their power and convenience to enable each teacher to do their best in the classroom. Item 30 was the statement, "The principal has developed appropriate rules and procedures." Although this may be counterintuitive, appropriate rules may help protect individual teachers from all-encompassing meeting-driven rules that infringe on their ability to control their unique classrooms. Item 31, which had a high correlation with high CMAS scores, was the statement, "The principal has used systematic procedures for staff appraisal." While teacher evaluations inherently display a principal's power, limiting those evaluations to commonly known and universally applied procedures frees teachers to make informed decisions on how best to manage their classrooms to meet school-wide expectations. Earlier in this chapter, I reported the high correlations of Bass's four transformational leadership characteristics with CMAS scores. Here I am suggesting adding a new empowerment characteristic to replace the shared leadership characteristic that was in my original proposal. The empowerment characteristic could be identified using the managerial leadership survey items and the *going beyond self-interest* element of the shared leadership characteristic.

My analysis of the results from Item 16 may be the most important contribution of this study to the field. It had a strong correlation of .879 with p < .01. It was the statement, "The principal has provided the necessary resources to support my implementation of the school's program." Ultimately, it is not how high a principal sets expectations, or how much they are perceived to care, but rather, whether or not the

principal can get teachers the resources they need to do their jobs that most influences student achievement. This brings another light to the discussion of management versus leadership. Whether or not management is considered transformational, at least some managerial tasks must be completed well if students and teachers are to thrive. In this study, the category of managerial leadership had a high correlation (.816 at p < .05). Findings from Item 16 seem to point to the bottom line of leadership.

If a principal is providing a good model, inspiring positive attitudes, thinking holistically, considering people as individuals, and desiring high achievement, then that principal is going to do what it takes to get teachers what they need to help students learn well. Rather than suggesting that managerial leadership be considered a part of transformational leadership, I would use the word *empowerment* to include some of the managerial items and revised shared leadership items. Based on the results of this study it appears that empowerment likely looks different for teachers than the literature portrays for others outside the education sector. Shared leadership is thought to be the major component of empowerment, so that is why I used the term in the proposal. Six items were included under the category shared leadership, more items than for any other characteristic. Item 9 was the statement, "The principal provided for our participation in the development of school goals." It had a negative correlation of -.176 with p > .05). Items 10-12 concerned providing for faculty participation in the development of common goals, school policies, priorities, and evaluation of achievement. They all had low rcorrelations with significances higher than .05. As was reported earlier in Chapter 4 results, the index with theses six characteristics had a high correlation with CMAS math scores and the CDE growth statistic.

Should high expectations be considered a transformational leadership characteristic? Jantzi and Leithwood (1996) included high expectations as a transformational leadership characteristic, and I used their respective items in my survey. The reason I did not include high expectations as a transformational leadership characteristic in this study was because I wanted to more thoroughly test its individual significance in improving education. This study disconfirms the popular notion that the most important thing a principal can do is raise expectations in order to raise CMAS scores. Bass's (1998) four characteristics all had higher correlations with CMAS scores. In the evaluation of Hypothesis 3, I found that when individualized consideration and high expectations are both rated highly for a principal, that school was likely to score highly on CMAS. My findings indicated that when other helpful characteristics are present, high expectations likely contribute to higher CMAS. Therefore, after further analysis, I included high expectations as a transformational leadership characteristic.

The other two leadership variables should be at least briefly discussed. Since I was immersed in what Clawson (2012) labeled Skinnerian behaviorism (transactional leadership) in my teacher preparation at Colorado State University in the early 1970s, it is a little strange to only give it a glance here. However, this is a "good strange" because this study indicates that contingent reward is not enough to produce excellence for all students. Transactional leadership was not included in the surveys used by Leithwood, Prater, or Klinginsmith. I probably added it due to my training and because it was identified as a contrast to transforming leadership by Burns (1978). Based on his review of well-known historical leaders, Burns developed his theory of transforming leadership as being superior to transactional leadership. This study helps to confirm Burns'

observations since transactional leadership had the third from the lowest significance and correlation. Burns did not say that transactional leadership was not ever useful, but rather it is best used in the context of transforming leadership. What Burns and Clawson (2012) challenge is that behaviorism is all-encompassing. This study is confirming to Burns and to Clawson.

The last of the nine leadership characteristics to be discussed is academic leadership. On the face of it, it makes no sense that academic leadership would be one of the least significant predictors of high scores on CMAS. Perhaps because state licensure requires a considerable amount of academic preparation, educators have similar academic attributes that are not differentiating in effect on academic achievement. Our educator preparation and licensing appears to be based on the concept that the person who has the most knowledge is likely to pass on the most knowledge. This concept ignores the observation of Dewey (2010b) that teaching involves moving in harmony with the minds of others, entering into their problems, and sharing their intellectual victories. Of course, knowledge of subject matter is important, but knowledge does not get into the learner without a connection. The principal who can inspire teachers to stay engaged with their students will help them to be academically successful. As Bandura (1977) said, successful learning gives students confidence to learn more and so there is an upward spiral of learning.

There is also a downward spiral of unlearning. This study found support for probable reasons for this. One reason is the push for high expectations without providing the resources to meet those expectations. Secondly, the present vogue of shared leadership is likely sometimes resulting in a false school-wide empowerment that detracts from true classroom empowerment. Transformational principals not only supply their teachers with the physical tools they need, they provide their teachers and students with a liberating intellectual environment that facilitates academic achievement. Thirdly, academic achievement is not just about acquiring knowledge, it is about stimulating the heart and intellect to connect with others to analyze, synthesize, and plan a better future.

Limitations of the Study

The biggest limitation to generalizability, trustworthiness, validity, and reliability is the relatively small size of the sample. However, given the size of the sample (n = 8), it was remarkably representative of the population of Colorado regular public middle school principals (N = 175+). The representative nature of the sample is a reason to take the results seriously, yet the small sample is a reason to not regard the results as foundational. Considering the theory and results of other research from Chapter 2, the results appear to be a step in the journey of understanding more about what transformational leadership looks like for educators, particularly what principal behaviors may facilitate higher student achievement that results in higher scores on Colorado's standardized testing, as well as some behaviors to avoid.

Recommendations

With support from state leaders that might help gain a larger sample, I would like to do a similar study that actually had a large sample. I would begin with a model that includes the most significant items from this study. I hope researchers will do similar studies with elementary and high school principals and in other states. All of the middle schools in the study were regular public middle schools. It would be good to include parochial, private, home, and charter schools in a larger study. This is especially relevant in a new administration where school choice is the mantra. Secretary of Education Betsy Devos has championed the ability of parents to choose the best schools in every zip code (Congressional Documents, 2017). An ancillary cause would be to learn what we can to make every alternative better.

Implications

Even without the pressure of legislated academic achievement standards, it is important to provide the best educational environment for all youth. The cost to lives filled with failure and disappointment can include illegal activities, physical health problems, mental health problems, and becoming parents of children who are more likely to drop out. An increase in educational attainment can lead to higher earnings, decrease in the costs of criminal activity and social welfare dependency, as well as an increase in service to the community. Bandura (2007) found that success in one area, in this case education, leads to self-efficacy and success in other areas such as employment. Transformational leadership factors appear to have the potential of helping our children to achieve more academically which will lead to more opportunities for them. As children enter the adult world, they can be better prepared to make significant contributions to positive social change.

This correlational study will help fill a gap in the literature by extending research on the possible benefit of principals' use of transformational leadership factors as they relate to achievement on statewide standardized test scores by students. Knowledge from this study could help principals to use more effective practices in developing more successful schools. Even if the results were only valid for eight Colorado middle schools, a substantial population is involved. The consistency of results with theorist/researchers like Bass and Bandura adds to the safety of generalizing the results further.

If transformational leadership characteristics continue to be found to contribute to the productivity of followers, then there are also implications for legislators. It is important not to convey an adversarial and imposing attitude toward educators if the hope is to give them incentive to help students.

There is a human response to want to reject the whole high stakes testing/common core standards/imposing evaluation system. In order to make the necessary standards palatable, educational leaders must make an extra effort to overcome their innate dehumanization. This study shows that the combination of transformational leadership and measured standards can lead to productivity.

Conclusion

My study of literature on school-based mentoring began as President Obama and Colorado governors were promoting a Race to the Top where U.S. students would reclaim their position as the best test takers in the world. The early results of the political effort did not appear to be fruitful. From 2008-2013, eighth grade Colorado standardized test scores were flat. The proposed climb to the top of a mountain only resulted in a jaunt on the plateau. Several studies from 1995-2005 had shown school-based mentoring to be mildly beneficial and so funding for youth mentoring had been increased as a part of the No Child Left Behind legislation. In 2009. the U.S. Department of Education contracted for a study of federally funded youth mentoring programs.

The study found no statistically significant impacts on youth in those programs and federal funding of youth mentoring programs came to an end in the FY 2010 budget. Since I believed that some of the mentoring programs were beneficial, I came to the conclusion that there must be some programs that were detrimental. I suspected that the same was true of education in general. The comparison of statistical means sometimes hides the fact that some factors in education were facilitating academic achievement while other factors, or lack of factors, facilitated a relative decline in academic achievement.

For more than a decade some researchers have been warning people that there existed a risk, as well as a reward, to youth mentoring (Rhodes, 2002). Youth were helped by mentors who connected with youth in long-term, mutually respectful relationships. Students became despondent as adults created high expectations and then did not commit their resources to meeting those expectations. One of the first dissertations I read was by Carter (2008). She had put together a school-based mentoring program similar to one I had contemplated. In her pre-test post-test analysis, the mean showed that there was no significant progress for mentees in her program. However, some students had improved from pre-test to post-test and some had declined from pre-test to post-test.

An explanation of why at least one regressed can be found in a student who declined by 23 points and reported that her mentor tried to make her do a lot of work that she could not do. This may be a specific example of my general findings that resources are needed for high expectations to have a positive effect and that if those resources are not available then high expectations can actually be detrimental. Carter's (2008) declining student corresponds to this study's lowest scoring school, 17 points below the state average. The principal in that school had a high expectation rating and a low individualized consideration rating. This appears to be a combination to avoid in order to improve individual student achievement and school test scores.

The highest CMAS score was 14 points above the state average and that principal had both the highest expectation rating and individualized consideration rating. The principal who had the lowest expectations rating had the second lowest CMAS score. Low expectations can be a limitation to achievement and high expectations can either accompany high achievement or low achievement. Tsiplakides and Keramida (2010) found that sometimes high expectations lead to student achievement and sometimes not. The answer to the question of when it does and when it does not is found in Item 16 of this study. Student achievement as demonstrated by CMAS correlates with principals who provide the necessary resources to their teachers and students. One of those necessary resources is the principal being a good model for teachers and students.

In my years of teaching I helped students learn more when resources were available to me than when I had to come up with my own. In my teaching experience, I also found that Bandura (1977) was right that academic success instills a confidence that leads to an upward spiral of academic achievement for the student. In dealing with troubled students of high and low capacities to learn, I was committed to getting them started achieving by any motivation I could come up with including contingent reward because I knew that once they received a taste of success they would motivate themselves with resulting success on tests.

I learned more in a few minutes of observing how a principal interacted with an early class than I did from months of teacher training. He modeled a confidence, clarity, and an assumption that students would do what he asked. I found that to be a much better model than trying to set up consequences for each misstep.

Student achievement is not static. It is increasing or decreasing at various rates. Based on the Chapter 2 literature and this study, one of the probable reasons for lower achievement rates is the push for high expectations without providing the resources to meet those expectations. Secondly, some attempts at shared leadership do not appear to translate into achievement. Rather, they lead to a false school-wide empowerment that detracts from empowering teachers in their classrooms. Effective principals not only supply their teachers with the physical tools and environment they need; they also provide their teachers and students with transformational leadership. The large number of significant items from this study could help in the understanding of what transformational leadership looks like in at least some Colorado middle schools.

One implication for public policy at the Colorado state level is that legislators make adequate resources available to superintendents and principals that they can properly channel to teachers so they can appropriately motivate students to increase their learning. A second implication is that legislators work with educators to understand what is truly needed. Items from this study could help legislators understand what Colorado middle school principals need in order to set the table for greater achievement in our schools.

As I collected data for this study, the new Trump administration had begun with a mantra for school choice. Do the results of this study have any implications for school choice? I do not foresee any of the choices going away. Each of the choices has a leadership structure. In parochial, private, and charter schools the structure is usually

similar to public schools with someone responsible for what goes on within a particular school building. To the extent that schools are similar to those in this study sample, the same type of leadership characteristics are likely to be similar in effectiveness. Home schooling provides unique opportunities and obligations. Both in the literature review and in my study results, modeling has been found to be correlated with student achievement. Parents have a great opportunity to demonstrate the type of behaviors they want to see. Parents have the obligation to provide their students with what they need to meet high expectations. In my school district the same student can take a literature class at home, a geometry class at a charter school, a physics class at the regular high school, a music class at a private school and a technology class at the community college concurrently. I have high expectations that this cooperative approach to meeting individual student goals will be successful in producing higher test scores among other achievements so long as there is the leadership to make all these choices feasible.

References

- Angelo, J. (2005). An analysis of principal leadership affecting student achievement in a high-performing, high-poverty middle school: A case study. (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Central. (Order # not available, done through George Washington University)
- Babbie, E. (1990). *Survey research methods* (2nd ed.). Belmont, CA: Wadsworth Publishing Company.
- Bamburg, J. (1994). *Raising expectations to improve student learning*. Retrieved from http://ncrel.org/sdrs/areas/issues/educatrs/leadrshp/leObam.htm

Bandura, A. (1977). Social learning theory. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.

- Bandura, A. (2007). Much ado over a faulty conception of perceived self-efficacy grounded in faulty experimentation. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 26, 641-658. Retrieved from https://www.uky.edu/Bandura2007JSCPpdf
- Bandura, A. (2009). Social cognitive theory goes global. *British Psychological Society*, 22(6), 504-506. Retrieved from www.thepsychologist.org.uk
- Bar-On, R. (2006). The Bar-On model of emotional-social intelligence (ESI). *Psicothema*, 18, 13-25. Retrieved from www.eiconsortium.org
- Bass, B. M., Waldman, D., Avolio, B., & Bebb, M. (1987). Transformational leadership and the falling dominoes effect. *Group & Organizational Studies*, 12(1), 73-87.
 ProQuest Central (Neither doi or link available)
- Bass, B. M. (1998). Transformational leadership: Industrial, military, and educational impact. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

- Belle', N. (2013). Leading to make a difference: A field experiment on the performance effects of transformational leadership, perceived social impact, and public service motivation. *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory, 24*, 109-136. doi:10.1093/jopart/mut033
- Benard, B. (1995). *Fostering resilience in children*. Retrieved from ERIC Digest. (ED386327)
- Bernstein, L., Rappaport, C., Olsho, L., Hunt, D., & Levin, M. (2009). *Impact evaluation* of the U.S. Department of Education's Student Mentoring Program (NCEE 2009-4047). Retrieved from the National Center for Education Evaluation and Regional Assistance website: https://ncee.ed.gov
- Boser, U. & Rosenthal, L. (2012). Do schools challenge our students? What student surveys tell us about the state of education in the United States. *The Educational Digest*. Retrieved from www.eddigest.com
- Brackett, M. & Salovey, P. (2006). Measuring emotional intelligence with the Mayer-Salovey-Caruso Emotional Intelligence Test (MSCEIT). *Psicothema, 18*, 34-41.
- Brookover, W. & Lezotte, L. (1979). *Changes in school, characteristics coincident with changes in student achievement* (The Institute for Research on Teaching, Occasional Paper No. 17). East Lansing, MI: Michigan State University College of Education.
- Burns, J. M. (1978). Leadership. New York, NY: Harper & Row.
- Cabrera, K. (2010). *Sustaining success toward closing the achievement gap: A case study of one urban high school.* (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest. (UMI Number 3403531)

- Castellano, K. & Ho, A. (2013). A practitioner's guide to growth models. Retrieved from Council of Chief State School Officers website: http://www.ccsso.org/Resources/Publications/A_Practitioner's_Guide_to_ Growth Models.html Google.
- Campbell, D. & Stanley (1963). *Experimental and quasi-experimental designs for research*. Chicago, IL: Rand McNally.
- Carter, A. (2008). *The effects of mentoring on middle-school students' achievement and self-efficacy: An evaluative case study.* (Doctoral dissertation). ProQuest. (UMI Number 3320282)
- Ciulla, J. (2010). Leadership and the problem of bogus empowerment. In G. Hickman (Ed.), *Leading Organizations: Perspectives for a new era*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Clawson, J. (2012). *Level three leadership: Getting below the surface* (5th ed.). Boston, MA: Prentice Hall.
- Cohen, J., Cohen, P., West, S., & Aiken, L. (2003). *Applied multiple regression / correlation analysis for the behavioral sciences* (3rd ed.). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Congressional Documents. (2017). *Betsy DeVos: A leader in the fight 'to expand education opportunities for children'*. ProQuest document ID: 1857821586.
- Core Standards. (2014). Retrieved from http://www.corestandards.org/standards-in-yourstate
- Creswell, J. W. (2009). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Croft, S., Roberts, M., & Stenhouse (2016). The perfect storm of educational reform: High-stakes testing and teacher evaluation. *Social Justice*, *42*(1), 70-92.
- Deutsch, N., Lawrence, E., & Henneberger, A. (2014). Social class. In D. DuBois & M. Karcher (Eds.), *Handbook of youth mentoring* (2nd ed.) (pp. 175-188). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- De Vito, N. (2009). The relationship between teacher burnout and emotional intelligence: A pilot study. (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest. (UMI Number 3349140).
- Dewey, J. (2010a). Theory of course of study (1911). In Simpson, D. J. & Stack, S. F. (Eds.). *Teachers, leaders, and schools: Essays by John Dewey*). (pp. 107-113).
 Carbondale, IL: Southern Illinois University Press.
- Dewey, J. (2010b). To those who aspire to the profession of teaching (1938). In Simpson,D. J. & Stack, S. F. (Eds.). *Teachers, leaders, and schools: Essays by John Dewey* (pp. 33-36). Carbondale, IL: Southern Illinois University Press.
- Dillman, D., Smyth, J., & Christian, L. (2009). *Internet, Mail, and Mixed-Mode Surveys: The Tailored Design Method* (3rd ed.). Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.
- Dolan, K. (2013). The school leadership pipeline series: Meeting Colorado's demand for excellent leaders (Part 1). Denver, CO: Donnell-Kay Foundation. Retrieved from www.dkfoundation.org
- DuBois, D., Holloway, B., Valentine, J., & Cooper, H. (2002). Effectiveness of mentoring programs for youth: A meta-analytic review. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 30(2). ProQuest Central.

- DuBois, D. & Silverthorn, N. (2005). Natural mentoring relationships and adolescent health: Evidence from a national study. *American Journal of Public Health*, 95(3).
 ProQuest Central.
- Dweck, C. (2006). *Mindset: The new psychology of success*. New York, NY: Random House.
- Dworkin, J., Larson, R., & Hansen, D. (2003). Adolescents' accounts of growth experiences in youth activities. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence, 32*(1), 17-26.
- Estapa, J. (2009). The relationship between the transformational leadership characteristics of principals as perceived by teachers, and student achievement on standardized tests. (Doctoral dissertation). ProQuest. (UMI Number: 3378413).
- Eres, F. (2011). Relationship between teacher motivation and transformational leadership characteristics of school principals. *International Journal of Education*, 3(2). doi:10.5296/ije.v3i2.tr
- Erickson, L., McDonald, S., & Elder, G. (2009). Informal mentors and education:
 Complementary or compensatory resources? *Sociology of Education*, *82*, 344-367. doi:10:1177/003804070908200403
- Ergle, B. (2012). *Transformational leadership behaviors in elementary school principals*. (Doctoral dissertation). ProQuest (UMI Number 3517876).
- Faul, F., Erdfieldler, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A.-G. (2009). Statistical Power analyses using G*Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. Behavior Research Methods, 41, 1149-1160.

- Field, A. (2013). *Discovering statistics using IBM SPSS statistics* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Flashoff, J. & Snow, R. (1970). A case study in statistical inference: Reconsideration of the Rosenthal-Jacobson data on teacher expectancy. U.S. Office of Education. ERIC ED046892.
- Frankfort-Nachmias, C. & Nachmias, D. (2008). *Research methods in the social sciences* (7th ed.). New York, NY: Worth Publishers.
- Geddes, B. (1990). How the cases you choose affect the answers you get: Selection bias in comparative politics. *Political Analysis*, 2(1), 131-150.doi:10.1093/pan/2.1.131
- Geijsel, F., Steegers, P., Leithwood, K., & Jantzi, D. (2003). Transformational leadership effects on teachers' commitment and effort toward school reform. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 41(3), 228-256. ProQuest.
- Gorard, S. (2001). *Quantitative methods in educational research: The role of numbers made easy.* New York, NY: Continuum.
- Gordon, G. (2006). Building engaged schools: Getting the most out of America's classrooms. New York, NY: Gallup Press. ISBN: 1-59562-010-9
- Goleman, D. (2006). *Emotional intelligence: Why it can matter more than IQ*. New York, NY: Random House. ISBN: 978-553-38371-3.
- Goleman, D. & Senge, P. (2014). The triple focus: A new approach to education. More Than Sound Publisher. ISBN: 978-1934441787.

- Grant, D. (2008). Listening to student voices: Web-based mentoring for black male students with emotional disorders. (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest. (UMI Number 3383006).
- Gray, J. (2012). Impact of mentoring on the academic achievement of African American middle school males. (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from Walden Dissertations.
- Grossman, J., Chan, C., Schwartz, S., & Rhodes, J. (2012). The test of time in school-based mentoring: The role of relationship duration and re-matching on academic outcomes. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 49, 43-54. doi:10.1007/s10464-011-9435-0
- Hallinger, P. & Murphy, J. (1986). Instructional leadership in effective schools. ERIC ED309535.
- Haptonstall, K. (2010). An analysis of the correlation between standards-based, nonstandards-based grading systems and achievement as measured by the Colorado Student Assessment Program. (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest. (UMI Number: 3397087).
- Herrera, C. (1999). School-based mentoring: A first look into its potential. *Public/Private Ventures*. ERIC ED436598.
- Herrera, C. (2004). School-based mentoring: A closer look. *Public/Private Ventures*. Retrieved from http://www.ppv.org
- Herrera, C., Grossman, J., Kauh, T., Feldman, A., McMaken, J., & Jucovy, L. (2007). Making a difference in schools: The Big Brothers Big Sisters school-based

mentoring impact study. *Public/Private Ventures*. Retrieved from http://www.ppv.org

- Herrera, C., Vang, Z., & Gale. (2002). Group mentoring: A study of mentoring groups in three programs. *Public/Private Ventures*. Retrieved from http://www.ppv.org
- Hickman, G. (Ed.). (2010). *Leading organizations: Perspectives for a new era*. (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- HumRRO. (2016). Evaluating the content and quality of next generation high school assessments. Alexandria, VA: Human Resources Research Organization.
- Jantzi, D. & Leithwood, K. (1996). Toward an explanation of variation in teachers' perceptions of transformational school leadership. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 32(4), 512-538. doi:10.1177/0013161X9603200404
- Jussim, L. & Harber, K. (2005). Teacher expectations and self-fulfilling prophecies: Knowns and unknowns, resolved and unresolved controversies. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 9(2), 131-155. Google.
- Karcher, M. (2008). The study of mentoring in the Learning Environment (SMILE): A randomized evaluation of the effectiveness of School-based mentoring. *Prevention Science*, 9. doi:10.1007/s11121-008-0083-z
- Karcher, M. & Hansen, K. (2014). Mentoring activities and interactions. In *Handbook of Youth Mentoring* (Eds. Dubois, D. & Karcher, M.). Los Angeles, CA: Sage.
 ISBN: 978-1-4129-8013-5.
- Keller, T. & Pryce, J. (2012). Different roles and different results: How activity orientations correspond to relationship quality and student outcomes in school-

based mentoring. *Journal of Primary Prevention*, *33*, 47-64. doi:10.1007/s10935-012-0264-1

- Kearney, R. (2011). Randi Weingarten, the American Federation of Teachers, and the challenges of policy leadership in a hostile environment. *Public Administration Review*, Sept.-Oct., 772-781.
- Klinginsmith, E. N. (2007). *The relative impact of principal managerial, instructional, and transformational leadership on student achievement in Missouri middle level schools* (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). University of Missouri, Columbia.
- Knoll, M. (2002). Administrator's guide to student achievement & higher test scores. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass. ISBN: 0-13-092337-0.
- Lam, C. & O'Higgins, E. (2011). Enhancing employee outcomes: The interrelated influences of managers' emotional intelligence and leadership style. *Leadership & Organizational Development Journal*, *33*(2), 149-174.

doi:10.1108/01437731211203465

- Lane, K., Pierson, M., Stang, K., & Carter, E. (2010). Teacher expectations of student classroom behavior: Do expectations vary as a function of school risk? *Remedial* and Special Education, 31(3), 163-174. doi:10.1177/0741932508327464
- Larose, S. & Tarabulsy, G. (2014). Academically at-risk students. In *Handbook of Youth Mentoring* (Eds. Dubois, D. & Karcher, M.) Los Angeles, CA: Sage. ISBN: 978-1-4129-8013-5.
- Leithwood, K. & Jantzi, D. (1997). Explaining variation in teachers' perceptions of principals' leadership: A replication. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 35(4), 312-331. Retrieved from ProQuest.

- Leithwood, K. & Jantzi, D. (2000). The effects of transformational leadership on Organizational conditions and student engagement with school. *Journal of Educational Administration, 38*(2), 112-129, ProQuest.
- Leithwood, K., McElheron-Hopkins, C., & Jantzi, D. (2004). Parent participation in school improvement planning: Results of a recent Ontario study. *Orbit, 34*(3), 43-46, ProQuest.
- Leithwood, K. (2005). Understanding successful principal leadership: progress on a broken front. *Journal of Educational Administration, 43*(6), 619-629, ProQuest Central.
- Leithwood, K. (2009). A review of empirical evidence about school size effects: A policy perspective. *Review of Educational Research*, *79*(1), 464-490, ProQuest.
- Lemov, D. (2010). *Teach like a champion: Techniques that put students on the path to college* (1st ed.). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass. ISBN-10:0470550473
- Mahoney, J., Vandell, S., Simpkins, S., & Zarrett, N. (2009). Adolescent out-of-school activities. In R. Lerner & L. Steinberg (Eds.) *Handbook of Adolescent Psychology, Volume 2: Contextual Influences on Adolescent Development* (3rd ed.). (228-267). Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.
- Margolis, H. & McCabe, P. (2003). Self-efficacy: A key to improving the motivation of struggling learners. *Preventing School Failure*, 47(4), 162-169, ProQuest Central.
- Maslow, A. (1970). *Motivation and personality*, (2nd ed.). New York, NY: Harper & Row.

- McGraw-Hill, (2013). *Transitional Colorado Assessment Program: Technical report*. Submitted to the Colorado Department of Education. Retrieved from http://www.cde.state.co.us/cdeassess/publications.html
- Menon, M. (2014). The relationship between transformational leadership, perceived leader effectiveness, and teachers' job satisfaction. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 52(4), 509-528. doi:10.1108/JEA-01-2013-0014
- MENTOR. (2006). National Mentoring Partnership. Retrieved from http://www.mentoring.org
- Monroe, E., Blackwell, E., & Pepper, S. (2010). Strengthening professional development partnerships while bridging classroom management instruction and practice. *Professional Educator*, 34(2), 1-9. Available from

http://www.eric.ed.gov/contentdelivery/servlet/ERICServlet?accno=EJ988200

Morrow, K. & Styles, M. (1995). Building relationships with youth in program settings. *Public/Private Ventures*. Retrieved from: http://www.ppv.org

No Child Left Behind Act of 2001. Public Law 107-110, 107th Congress.

- Obama, B. (2014). State of the Union Address. Retrieved from http://www.whitehouse.gov/the-press-office/2014/01/28/president-barackobamas-state-union-address
- Onorato, M. (2013). Transformational leadership style in the education sector: An empirical study of corporate managers and educational leaders. *Academy of Educational Leadership Journal*, *17*(1), 33-47. Accession #87744054 EBSCO

- Pepper, P. (2010). Effective principals skillfully balance leadership styles to facilitate student success: A focus for the reauthorization of ESEA. *Planning and Changing, 41*(1/2) 42-56. Available at eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ952358
- Perez-Arce, F., Constant, L., Loughran, D., & Karoly, L. (2012). The cost-benefit analysis of the National Guard Youth ChalleNGe program. (2012). Santa Monica, CA: Rand Corporation. ISBN: 0-8330-6030-3.
- Prater, M. E. (2004). The relative impact of principal managerial, instructional, and transformational leadership on student achievement (Doctoral dissertation).
 Retrieved from ProQuest. (UMI Number: 3137738).
- Pryce, J. (2006). *Up close and personal: A view of school-based mentoring relationships* (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest. (UMI Number 3206343).
- Pryce, J. (2012). Mentor attunement: An approach to successful school-based mentoring relationships. *Child Adolescence Social Work Journal*, 29, 285-305. doi:10.1007/s10560-012-0260-6
- Rath, T. & Clifton, D. (2004). How full is your bucket: Positive strategies for work and life. New York, NY: Gallup Press. ISBN: 1-59562-003-6
- Rhew, I., Brown, E., Hawkins, J., & Briney, J. (2013). Sustained effects of the Communities that Care system on preventions service transformation. *American Journal of Public Health*, 103(3), 529-535.
- Rhodes, J. (2002). *Stand by me: The risks and rewards of mentoring today's youth.* Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

- Rhodes, J., Camic, P., Milburn, M., & Lowe, S. (2009). Improving middle school climate through teacher-centered change. *Journal of Community Psychology*, *37*(6), 711-724. doi:10.1002/jcop.20326.
- Ritter, B. (2006). *The Colorado promise*. Retrieved from coyotegulch.files.wordpress.com/2009/03/ritter_policy_book
- Ritter, B. (2010). *State of the State Address*. Retrieved from www.denverpost.com/newsheadlines/ci_149 1452
- Rosenthal, R. & Jacobson, L. (1968). *Pygmalion in the classroom: Teacher expectation and pupils' intellectual development*. New York, NY: Holt, Rinehart, & Winston.
- Rosenthal, R., & Rubin, D. (1971). Pygmalion reaffirmed. *National Science Foundation*. ERIC ED059247.
- Rudestam, K. & Newton, R. (2007). *Surviving your dissertation: A comprehensive guide to content and process* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- SB 10-191 (2010). Section 1. 22-9-102, Colorado Revised Statutes
- Senge, P. (1994). The Fifth Discipline: The art & practice of the learning organization. New York, NY: Doubleday.
- Senge, P. (2012). Creating schools for the future, not the past for all students. *Leader to Leader*, 2012(65), 44-49. doi:10.1002/ltl.20035. Business Source Complete.
- Senge, P., Hamilton, H., & Kania, J. (2015). The Dawn of System Leadership. Stanford Social Innovation Review, 2015(Winter) 1-15. Retrieved from: http://ssir.org/articles/entry/the dawn of system leadership

Skinner, B. (1971). Beyond freedom & dignity. New York, NY: Alfred A. Knoph.

Taylor, F. (1972). Scientific management: Comprising shop management, the principles of scientific management, & testimony before the special house committee.Westport, CN: Greenwood Press, Publishers.

Taylor, G., Shepard, L., Kinner, F., & Rosenthal, J. (2003). A survey of teacher's perspectives on high-stakes testing in Colorado: What gets taught, what gets lost.
Technical Report 588, Center for Research on Evaluation. Santa Cruz, CA: University of California. Available at eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EP475139

- Taylor, S. (2007). A conceptual framework and empirical test of leader attunement: Toward a theory of leader self-awareness. (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest. (UMI Number 3240541).
- Tierney, J. & Grossman, J. (1995). Making a difference: An impact study of Big Brothers Big Sisters. *Public/Private Ventures*, Retrieved from: http://www.ppv.org
- Tompson, T., Benz, J., & Agiesta, J. (2013). Parents' attitudes on the quality of education in the United States. *The Associated Press-NORC Center for Public Affairs Research*. Retrieved from: www.apnorc.org
- Tsiplakides, I. & Keramida, A. (2010). The relationship between teacher expectations and student achievement in the teaching of English as a foreign language. *English Language Teaching*, 3(2), 22-25. Retrieved from: ccsenet.org/elt
- U.S. Department of Education (2010). *A blueprint for reform*. Retrieved from http://www2.ed.gov/policy/elsec/leg/blueprint
- Valentine, J. & Bowman, M. (1989). Principal effectiveness in "National Recognition" schools: A research summary report. *Department of Educational Administration*. Columbia, MO: University of Missouri. ERIC ED311552

- Valentine, J. & Prater, M. (2011). Instructional, Transformational, and Managerial Leadership and Student Achievement: High school principals make a difference.
 NASSP Bulletin, 91(1), 5-30. doi:10.1177/0192636511404062 Sage.
- Van Yperen, N. & Orehek, E. (2013). Achievement goals in the workplace:
 Conceptualization, prevalence, profiles, and outcomes. *Journal of Economic Psychology*, 38, 71-79. Journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/joep
- Wheeler, M., Keller, T., & DuBois, D. (2010). Social policy report: Review of three recent randomized trials of school-based mentoring. *Society for Research in Child Development, 24*(3). ISSN 1075-7031.
- Wineburg, S. (2011). The Self-fulfillment of the self-fulfilling prophecy. *Educational Research*, *16*(28). doi:10.3102/0013189X016009028.
- Yang, Y. (2014). Principals' transformational leadership in school improvement. *International Journal of Educational Management*, 28(3),279-288. doi:10.1108/IJEM-04-3013-0063.
- Yu, H., Leithwood, K., & Jantzi, D. (2002). The effects of transformational leadership on teacher's commitment to change in Hong Kong. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 40.4(5), 368-389. doi:10.1108/09578230210433436
- Yukl, G. (1982). Managerial leadership and the effective principal. Prepared for the national conference on the principalship, convened by the National Institute of Education, October 20-22, 1982. ERIC ED224179

Appendix A: Principal Leadership Questionnaire

By filling out this form you are agreeing for the information to be used in a research project. The individuals who respond to the survey will be anonymous. The results will only be known by the school.

Please use the following key to indicate the degree to which each statement applies to your principal. Respond specifically about your principal, not an assistant principal or other school leader. The typical time to complete this survey is 15-20 minutes.

1=Strongly Disagree 2=Disagree 3=Somewhat Disagree 4=Somewhat Agree 5=Agree 6=Strongly Agree (circle, check, or darken the number that applies)

The principal has:

1.	Commanded respect from everyone on the faculty.	1	2	3	4	5	6
2.	Excited faculty with visions of what we may be able to accomplish if we work together as a team.	1	2	3	4	5	6
3.	Made faculty members feel and act like leaders.	1	2	3	4	5	6
4.	Given the faculty a sense of overall purpose for its leadership role.	1	2	3	4	5	6
5.	Led by "doing" rather than simply by "telling".	1	2	3	4	5	6
6.	Symbolized success within the profession of education.	1	2	3	4	5	6
7.	Provided good models for faculty to follow.	1	2	3	4	5	6
8.	Gone beyond self-interest for the good of the group.	1	2	3	4	5	6
9.	Provided for our participation in the development of school goals.	1	2	3	4	5	6
10	. Encouraged faculty members to work toward the same goals.	1	2	3	4	5	6
11.	. Used problem solving with the faculty to generate school policies.	1	2	3	4	5	6
12	. Worked toward whole faculty consensus in establishing priorities.	1	2	3	4	5	6
13	. Regularly encouraged faculty members to evaluate our progress toward achievement of school goals.	1	2	3	4	5	6
14	. Provided for extended training to develop my knowledge and skills relevant to being a member of the school faculty.	1	2	3	4	5	6

15. Personally helped me to develop my strengths.	1	2	3	4	5	6
16. Provided the necessary resources to support my implementation of the school's program.	1	2	3	4	5	6
17. Treated me as an individual with unique needs and expertise.	1	2	3	4	5	6
18. Taken my opinion into consideration when initiating actions that affect my work.	1	2	3	4	5	6
19. Stimulated me to think about what I am doing for students.	1	2	3	4	5	6
20. Helped me to see the big picture.	1	2	3	4	5	6
21. Challenged me to reexamine some basic assumptions I have about my work in the school.	1	2	3	4	5	6
22. Provided information that helps me think of ways to implement the school's program.	1	2	3	4	5	6
23. Insisted on only the best performance from the school's faculty.	1	2	3	4	5	6
24. Shown us that there are high expectations for the school's faculty as professionals.	1	2	3	4	5	6
25. Not settled for second best in the performance of our work as the school's faculty.	1	2	3	4	5	6
26. Has knowledge of the general goals of all the curricular areas.	1	2	3	4	5	6
27. Has instructional observation skills that provide the basis for accurate assessment of the teaching process in the classroom.	1	2	3	4	5	6
28. Able to provide suggestions for improvement when criticizing poor practices.	1	2	3	4	5	6
29. Able to organize activities, tasks, and people.	1	2	3	4	5	6
30. Developed appropriate rules and procedures.	1	2	3	4	5	6
31. Used systematic procedures for staff appraisal.	1	2	3	4	5	6
32. Provided others with assistance in exchange for their efforts.	1	2	3	4	5	6
33. Offered incentives for meeting objectives.	1	2	3	4	5	6

34. Praised people for exhibiting desired behavior.	1	2	3	4	5	6

Questionnaire contains copyrighted material. Permission is required for further use.

Appendix B: Permission Letters

May 15, 2015

Kenneth Leithwood, Ph.D. Ontario Institute for Studies in Education University of Toronto 252 Bloor St. West Toronto, Ontario M5S 1V6

Dr. Leithwood,

About a year and a half ago I sent you an email asking for permission to use the Principal Leadership Questionnaire developed by you and Dr. Jantzi in my doctoral dissertation research project. You graciously answered by email with a favorable response. I am most grateful for that because your questionnaire is at the heart of my research project. I intend to do something in Colorado very similar to what Dr. Valentine and his students Prater and Klinginsmith did in Missouri. I would be happy to send you my proposal by email if you would like.

I appreciate the great work that you have done in furthering our understanding of educational leadership and school improvement policy. I referenced seven of your articles in my proposal. I would like to add a copy of your letter to an appendix of my dissertation.

Would you please send me a letter giving me permission to use your Principal Leadership Questionnaire in my Ph.D. research project? It is titled *A correlational study of leadership characteristics of Colorado middle school principals and scores on Colorado's standardized tests.* I will ask principals for a list of their teachers and I will send the questionnaire randomly to some of the teachers, probably via Survey Monkey.

Thank you,

Wayne Wolf 16841 Rimrock Road Cedaredge, CO 81413

970-856-3272

waynecolo@gmail.com

August 29, 2015

To: Wayne Wolf

From: Ken Leithwood

Re: Use of Principal Leadership Questionnaire

In response to your letter of May 15 requesting permission to use this questionnaire for your own research, you are welcome to do so.

Sincerely,

K. hushwood

Kenneth Leithwood

P.S. You letter requesting permission arrived by mail today.

5/30/2015

Gmail - I think this is what you will need to print and use in your study

GMail

Wayne Wolf <waynecolo@gmail.com>

I think this is what you will need to print and use in your study 1 message

Valentine, Jerry W. (Emeritus) <ValentineJ@missouri.edu> To: "waynecolo@gmail.com" <waynecolo@gmail.com>

Sat, May 30, 2015 at 4:30 PM

Mr. Wayne Wolf

16841 Rimrock Road

Cedaredge, CO 814813

Mr. Wolf:

I am writing to provide you with permission to reproduce and use as needed the Audit of Principal Effectiveness for your dissertation research project through Walden University.

I wish you the best of luck with your study and I look forward to reading your completed study.

Sincerely,

Jerry W. Valentine

Professor Emeritus

University of Missouri

Columbia, Missouri 65203

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=c549a47c23&view=pt&search=inbox&th=14da6f2c13adbd31&siml=14da6f2c13adbd31

1/1

Appendix C: Letter to Superintendents and Letter of Cooperation

Permission from School District Superintendents for Principals and Teachers to Voluntarily Respond to A Survey

Dear Superintendent Jones:

The popular answer to the question of how to improve education is to raise expectations. Research shows that it is more complex than that. I am working on a doctoral research project to help analyze the various strengths of correlation between educational practices and scores on Colorado's statewide standardized testing. A goal in gathering this information is to assist in convincing legislators of the importance of listening to educators as they make direct educational policy. Part of the study involves a 15 minute questionnaire to be completed by teachers to anonymously respond through Survey Monkey. I will also send the attached survey for middle school principals to fill out.

Thank you for your valuable contribution to Colorado learners. I intend to work hard to make the time your educators spend on these surveys very much worth their effort.

If you have any questions please call me at xxx or contact me through email at xxx.

Sincerely,

Wayne Wolf, Ph.D. candidate and long-time Colorado educator

Sample Letter of Cooperation from a School District Superintendent

School District #1 Broncoland, Colorado

Date

Dear Wayne Wolf,

Based on my review of your research proposal, I give permission for you to conduct the study entitled <u>A Correlational Study of Transformational Leadership Characteristics of Colorado Middle School Principals and scores on Colorado's Standardized Tests</u> in School District #1. As part of this study, I authorize you to send a survey to our middle school principals and to allow principals to give their teachers an opportunity to complete an anonymous Survey Monkey questionnaire. Individuals' participation will be voluntary and at their own discretion.

We understand that it is our organization's responsibility to inform the principals that they will be receiving the survey. We reserve the right to withdraw from the study at any time if our circumstances change.

I confirm that I am authorized to approve research in this setting and that this plan complies with the organization's policies.

I understand that the data collected from our principals will be kept confidential and data collected from teachers will remain entirely anonymous and may not be provided to anyone outside of the researchers supervising faculty/staff. I understand that I will receive a copy of the published results of the study.

Sincerely,

Authorization Official Contact Information

Walden University policy on electronic signatures: An electronic signature is just as valid as a written signature as long as both parties have agreed to conduct the transaction electronically. Electronic signatures are regulated by the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act. Electronic signatures are only valid when the signer is either (a) the sender of the email, or (b) copied on the email containing the signed document. Legally an "electronic signature" can be the person's typed name, their email address, or any other identifying marker. Walden University staff verify any electronic signatures that do not originate from a passwordprotected source (i.e., an email address officially on file with Walden).

Appendix D: Principal Demographic Survey

Dear Principal Smith:

I am gathering information to assist in convincing legislators of the importance of listening to principals as they make direct educational policy. Part of the study involves a survey to be completed by teachers to anonymously identify principal behaviors that are correlated with higher scores on Colorado statewide standards-based testing. The following demographic information will help in performing a thorough analysis of the data. Please return the enclosed survey.

Please circle the highest degree earned:	Bachelor's	Masters	Doctorate				
How many years have you held your present position?							
How many years do you have serving as a principal?							
What percentage of parents of your students would you estimate are highly involved in and supportive of their children's education?							

Approximately, what percentage of your students are involved in community activities such as Boys and Girls Clubs, 4-H, or after school programs?

What would you like state legislators to know about how student achievement could be improved?

Please provide the following link to your teachers in order for them to have an opportunity to fill out a Survey Monkey questionnaire that should only take 15 minutes. I will not know the names of the teachers—only their school. I will keep your name confidential and not publish individual school CMAS scores even though that information is public and available for me to use in my data analysis. If you send me your completed survey, I will send you the general results of my research when it is complete. These surveys should contribute to greater public understanding of the educational process.

Wayne Wolf, Ph.D. candidate and long-time educator